

ASX Announcement

12 May 2021

AusNet Services Holdings Pty Ltd 2020/2021 Full Year Results

Please find attached the Consolidated Financial Report of AusNet Services Holdings Pty Ltd for the financial period ended 31 March 2021.

Authorised by:

Naomi Kelly Company Secretary

Investor Relations Enquiries

John Nicolopoulos Head of Tax & Investor Relations +61 3 9695 6301 or +61 409 672 912 Media Enquiries Adrian Hill Acting Executive General Manager Regulation and External Affairs + 61 3 9483 0989

Financial Report

For the financial year ended 31 March 2021

Contents

Directors' report	3
Lead auditor's independence declaration	36
Consolidated income statement	37
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income	38
Consolidated statement of financial position	39
Consolidated statement of changes in equity	40
Consolidated statement of cash flows	41
Notes to the consolidated financial statements	42
Directors' declaration	85
Independent auditor's report	86

This financial report covers the consolidated entity consisting of AusNet Services Holdings Pty Ltd and its subsidiaries. The financial report is presented in Australian dollars.

AusNet Services Holdings Pty Ltd is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Victoria, Australia. Its registered office and principal place of business is:

Level 31, 2 Southbank Boulevard Southbank, Victoria 3006 Australia

A description of the nature of AusNet Services Holdings Pty Ltd operations and its principal activities is included in the Directors' report.

The financial report was authorised for issue by the Directors on 11 May 2021.

Directors' Report

The Directors of AusNet Services Holdings Pty Ltd present their report on the general-purpose financial report of the consolidated entity for the financial year ended 31 March 2021 (FY2021). The financial report is for AusNet Services Holdings Pty Ltd and its controlled entities (we, us, our, AusNet or the Group).

Our Board of Directors

The persons listed below were Directors of the Company during the whole of the financial year and up to the date of this report unless otherwise noted.

Tony Narvaez (Managing Director)

Mark Ellul

Alistair Parker (ceased as director on 18 December 2020)

Operating & Financial Review

The year was highlighted by a challenging and rapidly changing external environment. Against this backdrop we delivered a solid performance across a number of important outcomes, including:

- We reprioritised, deferred and stopped several non-critical works and projects to minimise customer disruption and support our people;
- We concluded our 2021-26 Electricity Distribution Price Review (EDPR). The final outcome supports our customers while also allowing for expenditures to maintain and improve network reliability and safety;
- We demonstrated our emergency management capability in our response to several major customer interruptions during the year;
- We strengthened our balance sheet in order to take advantage of future growth opportunities; and
- After adjusting for a number of one-off and unusual items, we delivered slightly improved financial performance across all key metrics.

Going forward, the external environment will continue to present challenges that may impact our future performance and will require us to adapt, manage and respond

Financial performance

\$M	FY2021	FY2020	Movement	%
Revenue	1,214.3	1,239.2	(24.9)	(2.0)
EBITDA	689.0	712.8	(23.8)	(3.3)
NPAT	114.4	87.6	26.8	30.6

The declines in both revenue and EBITDA were impacted by several material items across both FY2020 and FY2021:

- In the current year we recognised a \$30.7 million impairment charge against the goodwill and certain software
 assets of our Geospatial business that services both our internal regulated businesses as well as external
 customers. This impairment is as a result of a change in strategic direction to explore partnership models with
 specialist providers.
- The prior year included additional revenues from our catch-up recognition of historical gifted assets (\$19.1 million), and \$14.7 million of bushfire remediation costs as a result of the major bushfire event in December 2019 / January 2020.
- There were several items that had a material impact on revenues but only a minimal impact on EBITDA. These were the cessation of our material sales business in Growth & Future Networks in late FY2020 (\$16.2 million), and the prior year sale of inventory (\$12.8 million) to Downer as part of our transfer of electricity distribution maintenance functions.

After excluding these items, underlying revenue and EBITDA increased by \$23.2 million and \$11.3 million respectively. The increase in revenue is largely reflective of \$26.7 million higher Transmission Use of System (TUoS) recoveries, which is a combination of prior year under recovery and higher current year TUoS expense of \$13.8 million.

Operating expenses (after excluding the items noted above) were comparable year on year.

Operating & Financial Review (continued)

Consolidated financial performance (continued)

Further details regarding revenue and operating expense performance are contained in each business segment commentary below.

While EBITDA was \$23.8 million lower, net profit after tax increased by \$26.8 million or 30.6 per cent. Net finance charges were reduced due to reversal of previous hedge accounting losses, while a \$13.3 million income tax credit was recognised as a result of amended tax returns for the 2016-2019 period that were lodged in the current year.

The operating and financial performance of each of our individual businesses for the financial year ended 31 March 2021 is discussed below. During FY2021, the Mondo segment was renamed 'Growth & Future Networks' and now includes network innovation functions that were previously included in the Electricity Distribution businesses, as well as Mondo. Comparatives have been restated for consistency.

Electricity distribution

	FY2021	FY2020 (restated)	Movement	%
Revenue (\$M)	922.7	934.7	(12.0)	(1.3)
EBITDA (\$M)	545.4	566.4	(21.0)	(3.7)
Volume (GWh)	7,426	7,531	(105)	(1.4)
Connections	768,460	753,601	14,859	2.0
Capital expenditure (\$M)	405.8	497.1	(91.3)	(18.4)

The decline in the reported results for the electricity distribution business is attributable to the unusual and nonrecurring items noted above, namely the prior year \$12.8 million inventory sale to Downer and \$19.1 million gifted asset catch-up. In addition, \$19.0 million of the Geospatial impairment recognised has been allocated to this segment.

After accounting for these items, the electricity distribution business has delivered solid financial performance in FY2021. The residual revenue increase of \$19.9 million is due to higher TUoS recovery. Note that electricity distribution tariffs declined by 9.5 per cent from 1 January 2021, which along with lower consumption due to a mild summer, largely reversed the revenue growth seen in the first half of FY2021. Partially offsetting higher TUoS recovery has been softer customer contributions and gifted assets which have been impacted by COVID-19.

A cost increase of \$2.8 million (excluding inventory sale and impairment) was due to \$13.8 million higher TUoS expense, partly offset by the prior year including additional bushfire remediation costs and outsourcing transition one-offs.

Capital expenditure declined substantially due to:

- a \$25.6 million decrease in the Rapid Earth Fault Current Limiter (**REFCL**) program spend as the current year focus has been on Tranche 2 compliance, with much of the build of both Tranches 1 and 2 being in FY2020;
- our response to minimising disruptions to households facing COVID-19 restrictions which resulted in the deferral
 of certain replacement expenditure; and
- · lower growth in business and residential new connections compared with FY2020.

Future revenue impacts

Looking forward, we expect the future revenues of our electricity distribution business will be affected by a range of events related to the treatment of over- and under-recovery of regulated revenues under the regulatory framework. In particular:

- Our tariff period is changing from a calendar year basis to being a financial year basis ending 30 June, effective 1 July 2021. In the year to 30 June 2022, our regulated revenue will be reduced by \$17.0 million, to account for our cumulative over-recovery (at 31 March 2021) of volume charges above those assumed in our pricing structures.
- In November 2020, the Australian Energy Regulator (AER) approved pass-through revenue of \$14.7 million for costs associated with the 2019-20 bushfires, which will be recovered over the five-year period commencing 1 July 2021.

Operating & Financial Review (continued)

Electricity distribution (continued)

 The July 2021 to June 2022 tariffs include a Service Target Performance Incentive Scheme (STPIS) penalty of \$5.8 million as a result of our CY2019 network reliability performance. Preliminary CY2020 network reliability performance indicates that we will be penalised in the order of around \$7 million in FY23/24 tariffs. We are targeting network reliability improvements under our transformation program.

Gas distribution

Our gas distribution business performed well in FY2021, with continued residential customer growth.

	FY2021	FY2020	Movement	%
Revenue (\$M)	224.9	223.8	1.1	0.5
EBITDA (\$M)	167.9	159.0	8.9	5.6
Volume (PJ)	70.2	68.3	1.9	2.8
Connections	752,882	732,479	20,403	2.8
Capital expenditure (\$M)	100.2	104.9	(4.7)	(4.5)

Regulated revenue increased by \$6.5 million due to volume outperformance during the winter months. This movement was largely offset due to FY2020 including \$5.8 million of unaccounted for gas revenue (the business receives revenue when the annual volume of gas lost during transportation via our network is lower than the regulated benchmark and incurs costs when this annual volume is higher than the benchmark). FY2021 unaccounted for gas outcome did not result in any significant revenue or expense.

Operating expenditure decreased by \$7.8 million, due to FY2020 including \$4.5 million of unaccounted for gas costs (associated with the revenue increase) as well as \$3.0 million reduction in asset retirements, which were elevated in FY2020 due to an acceleration of the gas meter replacement project.

The capital expenditure decrease is mostly due to lower business supply projects and major alterations.

Growth & Future Networks (including Mondo)

Growth & Future Networks provides energy services, as well as a range of asset and utility services to support the management of electricity, gas, and water networks. Dedicated customer connections are treated as finance lease receivables, with proceeds received from these assets split between revenue, lease interest income and principal repayments.

	FY2021	FY2020 (restated)	Movement	%
Revenue (\$M)	66.7	80.7	(14.0)	(17.3)
EBITDA (\$M)	(24.3)	(12.6)	(11.7)	92.9
Lease interest income (\$M)	0.6	0.2	0.4	200.0
EBITDA after lease income (EBITDAaL) (\$M)	(23.7)	(12.4)	(11.3)	91.1
EBITDAaL Margin (%)	(36.1)	(15.3)	(20.8)	(135.9)
Capital expenditure (\$M)	19.4	25.3	(5.9)	(23.3)

The decline in EBITDA is primarily due to \$11.7 million of the geospatial impairment recognised that has been allocated to this segment. The decline in revenue is primarily due to the cessation of Growth & Future Networks' low margin material sales business, reducing revenues by \$16.2 million with minimal impact on EBITDA.

The residual increase in revenue of \$2.2 million is primarily due to growth in field services revenue, and the residual increase in expenses of \$1.5 million is due to restructuring costs and higher corporate cost allocations.

Material risks and uncertainties

The Board reviews and guides AusNet's system of risk management, compliance and internal controls, including setting the risk appetite. The ARC assists the Board in discharging these responsibilities. The ARC oversees the adequacy and effectiveness of AusNet's audit program, risk management processes and internal control systems, including the monitoring of material business risks (financial and non-financial) and corporate compliance and the assessment of whether the business is operating within risk appetite.

The Managing Director is accountable to the Board and the ARC for the implementation of risk management processes in line with good corporate governance. Management is responsible for embedding sound risk management practices across all business activities.

Risks are identified, assessed and managed across the organisation via various methods and utilising our risk management framework and tools. The status of the material strategic and business risks are reported to executive management regularly, while all risks are reviewed by risk owners and subject matter experts regularly to ensure the risk description and consequences are up-to-date, appropriate controls are identified, and that those controls are adequate and effective in managing the risk to the target risk rating.

Further details can be found in our Corporate Governance Statement which is available on our website. We are cognisant of the following principal risks which may materially impact the execution and achievement of our business strategy and financial performance and position.

Industry and regulatory risks

Industry developments

The energy industry and Australian economy more broadly is experiencing a period of significant and rapid change and uncertainty, with concerns around environmental issues, energy security, reliability and affordability, as well in relation to national security and foreign policy. Government, as well as various political, regulatory and industry bodies continue to debate, recommend and implement various reform programs that could have adverse impacts on the financial performance and position of AusNet.

Recent legal, regulatory and policy changes or reviews include:

- The AER has commenced consultation on specific topics in the lead up to its Rate of Return Instrument Review
 which will be finalised in December 2022. This will be binding on networks and the AER and may adversely
 affect revenues in regulatory determinations made after this date.
- Significant changes to the foreign investment and acquisition laws in Australia directed at national security took effect on 1 January 2021. The changes create additional approval requirements, and circumstances for review, for critical infrastructure businesses (among others) such as AusNet and certain of its shareholders. The changes could, among other things, make it more difficult for AusNet to grow or expand its business or result in certain future investments being reviewed.
- The AER is reviewing the national electricity distribution and transmission ring-fencing guidelines, and recently had its enforcement powers strengthened, including with respect to the scope and quantum civil penalty provisions, as well as information gathering powers. Any expanded ring-fencing requirements following these reviews could result in additional compliance costs, execution complexities and risk of penalties.

In addition to policy development, traditional energy models are changing with the closure of coal-fired power stations and the increase in renewable and distributed generation and storage. These changes are driven by changes in technology, environmental and regulatory policies, customer expectations and cost. These changes are expected to continue in the future and impact our physical networks' and regulatory framework and the need to adapt and provide services to customers.

We continue to play a key role in the reform of the industry in terms of our active contribution in the current reviews and th trial of new technologies on our network. Our objective is to actively participate in shaping industry development and to lead and deliver the transformation required in the energy sector.

Material risks and uncertainties (continued)

Industry developments (continued)

Rapid Earth Fault Current Limiter (REFCL) program

On 1 May 2016, the Electricity Safety (Bushfire Mitigation) Amendment Regulations 2016 (Amended Bushfire Mitigation Regulations) came into effect in Victoria. The amended regulations require Victorian distributors to install REFCLs at designated zone substations. The purpose of the REFCL devices is to reduce the risk of a bushfire caused by a fallen powerline.

AusNet is one of three electricity distributors required to implement REFCL devices. Our program has been separated into three tranches, the following table details the requirements of each tranche and progress made to date:

	Tranche 1	Tranche 2	Tranche 3
Compliance period	By 1 May 2019	By 1 May 2021	By 1 May 2023
Zone substations	8	9	5
Minimum number of points* required by the Act	30	25 (55 total)	9 (64 total)
Direct spend approved by the AER (\$M)	95	137	94**
Points achieved	32	12 (44 total)	-

* Each zone substation is attributed a point score from 1 to 5, with the highest value attributed to those zone substations where fire mitigation measures would provide the greatest benefit, depending on the degree of bushfire risk.

** The recent EDPR decision approved an additional \$10.5 million for the Kalkallo zone sub-station, in addition to the Tranche 3 Contingent Project Allowance.

This program presents several risks, including funding, technology, vendor, compliance and delivery risks, which are being actively managed. Each Tranche faces these risks to varying degrees.

AusNet has all eight Tranche 1 zone substations commissioned with REFCL technology, which have all demonstrated compliance with the legislated performance standards.

Tranche 2 is predominately in urban areas, with a number of high voltage customers connecting to these zone substations. An extension of time request was approved by ESV in relation to three of the nine zone substations (totalling 8 points) to enable a high voltage customer to complete their REFCL readiness works on these networks, and for one zone substation (totalling 3 points) where compliance was not demonstrated on one feeder. As a result we have achieved the updated minimum points (44 points) by 1 May 2021. A further three points are required by 1 November 2021 and eight points by 1 November 2022. Compliance has been demonstrated at the remaining five zone substations. Tranche 3 delivery is underway with the balance of the funding for one zone substation approved by the AER as part of the 2021-26 Electricity Distribution Price Review (EDPR) regulatory determination.

The amended *Electricity Safety Act 1998 (Vic)* (ESA) enables ESV or the Minister to apply to the Supreme Court of Victoria, seeking the imposition of significant financial penalties if a distributor fails to achieve the number of points prescribed by the Regulations throughout the applicable compliance period. The legislation provides that the Court can impose a maximum penalty of \$2 million per point for each station for which a distributor has not achieved compliance. Accordingly, penalties of up to \$10 million per zone substation can apply if AusNet fails to achieve the required capacity during the relevant compliance period. Additionally, the Court can impose a maximum daily penalty of \$5,500 for each day AusNet remains non-compliant.

Price determinations

The energy industry in Australia is highly regulated. The regulated component of our revenues (approximately 88 per cent of total revenues for the year ended 31 March 2021) is subject to periodic pricing resets by the AER, where revenue or prices will be determined for each of the networks for the specified regulatory period. AusNet has no ability or flexibility to charge more for regulated services than is provided for under the relevant AER determination (for electricity distribution), or the approved access arrangement (in respect of gas distribution), without regulatory approval. Regulatory control periods are generally five years. The upcoming regulatory reset dates for our electricity distribution network, and gas distribution network are 1 July 2021 and 1 July 2023 respectively.

Regulated charges do not necessarily reflect actual or projected operating costs, capital expenditure or the costs of capital. If the regulated charges set by the AER are lower than our costs, this may adversely affect our financial performance and position, including revenues and cash flows. In addition, we are exposed to cost changes within a regulatory control period and bear the risk of any shortfall in allowances for costs provided by regulatory determinations. The regulator applies benchmarking as it considers appropriate to each network business, having regard to an overall objective that only capital expenditure that is efficient should form part of the regulated asset base. Operating expenditure is particularly subject to benchmarking comparisons to set efficient levels going forward. The regulatory regime also offers limited pass-through protection. Our risk management approach includes developing detailed plans of works to be undertaken and costs to be incurred as well as energy and maximum demand forecasts prior to the commencement of a regulatory period.

Material risks and uncertainties (continued)

Industry developments (continued)

Price determinations (continued)

Emphasis is placed on ensuring that we continue to maintain safe, resilient and reliable networks and that the costs to be incurred are efficient and prudent. This information is submitted to the AER as part of the determination process and, where appropriate, the views of industry and other external experts are sought to be included in the submission. We also utilised a Customer Forum in the 2021-26 EDPR process to include inputs from customer representatives.

During the regulatory period we continuously monitor and manage our costs and through our enterprise-wide transformation program we aim to improve our benchmark performance.

Network risks

Our energy distribution networks and information technology systems are subject to human error in operation, equipment failure, natural disasters (such as bushfires, severe weather, floods and earthquakes), sabotage, terrorist attacks (including cyber-attacks) or other events which can cause service interruptions to customers, network failures, breakdowns or unplanned outages. Certain events may occur that may affect electricity distribution lines or gas mains in a manner that would disrupt the supply of electricity or gas. Failures in our equipment may cause supply interruptions or physical damage.

Any service disruption may cause loss or damage to customers, who may seek to recover damages from AusNet, and this could harm our business and reputation. Our emergency response, crisis management and business continuity management system are our approved methodology to guide response and recovery activities. However, it may not be able to effectively protect our business and operations from these events.

AusNet is also exposed to risks regarding its design and installation, information technology and other service providers. We rely on the expertise, qualifications and adequacy and sustainability of financial and other resources of these service providers. We are also exposed to the cost of replacing faulty equipment. On rare occasions, faults in plant items are discovered only after the item has been installed within a network, requiring a large-scale replacement program, which may not be partly or fully covered by warranties.

Plant warranties may not be available or may only partially respond. Additionally, while incidents in our zone substations and terminal stations have property insurance cover, incidents outside the boundaries of our zone substations and terminal stations are self-insured. Any forced replacement program, particularly if not insured or covered by warranties, could be costly and adversely affect our financial performance and position.

The changing generation mix in Victoria and the location of generators in the future may also impact the configuration and performance of the networks, increasing the risk of redundant assets as well as a risk of decline in the reliability and security of the networks. We continue to work closely with all stakeholders associated with the planning and development of generating capacity to manage such risk.

Material risks and uncertainties (continued)

Taxation risks

AusNet is a large taxpayer and subject to annual Australian Tax Office (ATO) reviews of the income tax return and various tax positions adopted by the Group. There is a risk that changes in tax law, or changes in the way that tax laws are interpreted, may materially impact the tax liabilities of the Group.

AusNet regularly engages with the ATO regarding its tax returns. At present there are several tax positions being reviewed by the ATO, including but not limited to:

- An objection lodged by AusNet seeking a refund of tax paid in relation to certain gifted assets received.
- An objection lodged by AusNet in relation to certain tax consolidation and capital allowance positions arising from the corporate restructure completed in June 2015.

In relation to the gifted asset matter, AusNet has recognised a \$37.5 million non-current tax receivable representing the refund claimed. As this was previously recognised as a timing difference, it does not have an income tax expense impact. There is a risk that the ATO may ultimately reject this objection, in which case this value will be claimed over the life of the assets via depreciation deductions.

The tax consolidation element of the 2015 corporate restructure objection contends that a higher uplift in tax base occurred as a result of the restructure. Based on several assumptions, AusNet estimates the tax effect of this potential uplift to be up to \$485 million which, if successful, would be realised over the life of the assets. However, as some of this benefit relates to prior periods any immediate refund of tax may also trigger franking deficit tax. The ultimate outcome of the objection is inherently uncertain. There is a risk that our objection is ultimately unsuccessful, or if successful or otherwise resolved, any benefit is materially lower than our estimate.

AusNet's financial statements do not reflect the potential uplift in tax base arising from the tax consolidation uplift. If we are ultimately unsuccessful, no prior year lump sum primary tax or interest penalty should arise, as we have conservatively adopted the ATO's position with effect from the 2015 restructure and have paid tax accordingly.

In relation to the capital allowances element of the 2015 corporate restructure objection as well as all other matters currently being reviewed by the ATO, we have assessed the current status of these matters and as a result continue to carry an \$11.0 million net tax risk provision as at 31 March 2021. There is a risk that the final outcome of the ATO review of these matters may result in a larger tax liability.

Funding and market risks

We rely on access to financial markets as a significant source of funding for growth capital requirements not covered by operating cash flows. Our access to financial markets could be adversely impacted through various factors, including, but not limited to, external changes in funding markets, a material adverse change in our business or a reduction in our credit rating. In addition, the COVID-19 pandemic has seen increased market volatility around the world and may ultimately impact the availability of certain sources of funds in the future and/or the cost of those funds. The inability to raise capital on favourable terms, particularly during times of uncertainty in the financial markets, could impact our ability to refinance existing debt or raise new debt and hence to sustain and/or grow our capital-intensive businesses, and would likely increase our cost of capital.

AusNet may only raise additional equity (e.g. issues of shares) with the prior ordinary approval of the Company in general meeting. While this has been obtained in the past in relation to pro-rata issues up to 10 per cent of prevailing share capital and for dividend reinvestment plans, there is a risk it will not be obtained, or on the same terms, in the future. In addition, the issue of shares in certain circumstances may be subject to review (for a period of 10 years) on national security grounds under the foreign investment and acquisition laws that took effect on 1 January 2021 described in further detail above.

AusNet has issued significant amounts of hybrid securities, which provide certain equity credit under rating agencies' methodologies. Rating agencies impose a cap in relation to the levels of hybrid securities that can attract equity credit. In the event that credit rating agencies modify their methodology, or we are unable to refinance our hybrids in a timely manner and lose their equity credit status, we may experience adverse credit rating impacts and higher cost of debt.

AusNet has historically operated a Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRP), with discount levels that have varied between zero and 2.5 per cent. The use of a DRP and the level of discounting (if any) is at the discretion of AusNet and decisions around whether to operate a DRP, and on what terms, may take into account growth capital funding requirements.

Furthermore, we have a large amount of debt, with a net debt to Regulated and Contracted Asset Base ratio at 31 March 2021 of 67 per cent (excluding equity credit for the \$2.4 billion of hybrid instruments). The degree to which we may be leveraged in the future could affect our ability to service debt and other obligations, to pay dividends to shareholders, to make capital investments, to take advantage of certain business opportunities, to respond to competitive pressures or to obtain additional financing. In addition, we are exposed to a number of market risks associated with this debt, including interest rate and foreign currency risk.

Material risks and uncertainties (continued)

Funding and market risks (continued)

We manage these risks in accordance with our Treasury Risk Policy which is approved by the Board and reviewed by the Audit and Risk Committee periodically. Under this policy, we aim to have a diverse funding mix in terms of source and tenor and proactively monitor and manage our credit metrics. This enables us to maintain an 'A' range credit rating, ensures continued access to various markets and limits the funding requirement for any given year. In addition, through the use of derivative financial instruments we aim to hedge 90 to 100 per cent of our interest rate risk.

Climate change and sustainability risks

As an owner and operator of energy networks, AusNet is focussed on the identification and management of both transition and physical risks of climate change. Transition risks include the impacts of potential changes to energy policy, legislation and regulations as the energy industry moves to a lower carbon future, with increasing renewable and distributed generation. The implications of these changes are outlined in the industry and regulatory risks and network risks sections.

Other transition risks and opportunities arise from changes in customer preferences and developments in renewable energy and energy storage technology. As part of our active monitoring of new technology we undertake trials (including mini-grids), and partner with other organisations to better understand risks and opportunities for our business.

In addition to the risks identified above, community sentiment to remove all fossil fuels from the economy may drive policy action to transition away from gas causing high rates of residential disconnection, as electrification is encouraged along with increased appliance efficiency. As a result, gas demand could fall, as new subdivisions are not equipped with gas. Mitigating some of these risks in Victoria, is that gas is currently the predominant fuel for heating. In addition, as a member of the Australian Hydrogen Centre, AusNet has been selected for a feasibility project to assess the ability to produce and distribute hydrogen in regional towns.

Infrastructure Victoria has been asked to provide the Victorian Government with advice relating to Victoria's gas transmission and distribution networks under a range of 2050 energy sector scenarios. A final report is to be provided by 31 December 2021.

In FY2021, AusNet completed its first report under the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) framework, which is published on our website. The report includes a point in time scenario analysis to validate and identify physical and transitional risks to both the company strategy and business operations. The analysis is subject to assumptions, risk, uncertainties, and other factors and while our approach continues to evolve, climate related risk and opportunity identification and assessments forms part of our risk management, governance and strategic planning processes. This work will continue to be developed in FY2022 including formalising potential impacts on asset lives and embedding scenarios into impairment calculations.

Physical risks include the impacts of changing environmental conditions (both short and longer term) on our network assets and the potential damage to assets and interruptions to supply from severe weather events such as storms, bushfires or floods. We have continued our network resilience program to strengthen critical parts of the network and enhance contingency planning.

Material risks and uncertainties (continued)

Climate change and sustainability risks (continued)

Bushfire Risks

Recent fire events both domestically and overseas have resulted in substantial losses. These events are impacting the availability and pricing of bushfire liability insurance globally. AusNet has liability insurance which specifically provides cover for bushfire liability. AusNet reviews its insurance cover annually and seeks cover commensurate with the scale and size of its operations, the risks assessed to be associated with its operations and with industry standards and practice. Recent events have seen some insurers withdraw from the market and premiums rise. This will likely continue to occur for future renewals, thereby increasing the risk of not being able to source commensurate cover at a reasonable cost.

There are regulatory mechanisms in place under which, in certain circumstances, we may apply to the AER for a pass through of any reasonable and prudent residual costs that may ultimately be incurred in relation to bushfires above our liability insurance. This mechanism has yet to be tested in practice.

In February 2021, the AER issued a draft guidance note on insurance coverage pass-through events. The AER has noted recent changed insurance market conditions, characterised by rising insurance premiums and withdrawn capacity, and the impact of recent major bushfire events across Australia. The draft guidance note sets out the AER's expectations with respect to the types of information that should be kept and the related processes that should be adopted to facilitate AER assessment of an insurance coverage event. The final guidance note is due to be issued in July 2021. AusNet will continue to engage with the AER on this matter to provide clarity on this risk.

Risk management for these risks includes a significant annual investment in bushfire mitigation activities, the ongoing development and testing of emergency response plans and reviewing engineering standards and ratings for equipment. Investment is also being made in network resilience to strengthen critical parts of the electricity distribution network and enhance contingency planning. AusNet's safety record, network asset management and network maintenance programs are consistent with industry practice. We have achieved a targeted bushfire mitigation index of zero (a zero index means that no works are outstanding beyond their scheduled dates) by the bushfire season declaration and our vegetation management programs are prepared pursuant to the Electricity Safety (Bushfire Mitigation) Regulations. In addition, we continue our focus on customer engagement on community resilience, including pre-summer communications and media for customers to be bushfire ready.

Information technology and security risks

There is a growing focus required from organisations due to an increasing risk of cyber-attacks. Our cyber security function is mandated to protect our digital assets from an attack that could disrupt our operations, impact our customers or defraud our organisation, acknowledging the important role we play in providing critical infrastructure and services to the State of Victoria.

On 6 August 2020, the Federal Government published its 2020 Cyber Security Strategy and Regulatory Framework Paper. The Regulatory Consultation paper released together with the Cyber strategy proposes an enhanced regulatory framework (building on the prevailing Federal security of critical infrastructure legislation) and covers not just cyber but also physical, personnel and supply chain protections for critical infrastructure businesses. The legislation relating to the updated strategy is currently before the Federal Parliament. Potential impacts include legislation directing levels of capability required and time frames to achieve this goal, increased Board level responsibilities in planning and managing security and resilience and direct government assistance in the event of a major event.

The drive to reduce carbon emissions, customers' increasing needs for higher levels of reliability and the reduction in the cost of digital technology have resulted in a greater role for technology in the enablement, management and operations of utility networks. The greater role of technology comes with an increased risk and potential impact of cyber-attacks. This increased focus on the role technology plays in the management and operations of utility networks will require the introduction of new digital technology platforms. In the event there is any significant delay in the development of new technology, this may negatively impact our revenue (by reducing our ability to realise operational efficiencies) or require unforeseen capital investment to replace obsolete technology.

In addition, as with all new business solutions, there are risks associated with solution design, implementation, budgeting, planning, integration, future maintenance, upgrades and support. The realisation of any such risks could adversely impact the effectiveness and cost of such a solution and business continuity.

AEMC rule changes commence on 1 October 2021, which change the settlement period for the electricity spot price from 30 minutes to five minutes. This rule requires additional investment in metering and digital systems, with increased data collection and management requirements.

To mitigate these risks, we have established a centralised architecture, delivery and governance capability with a focus on technology needs, designing and building to meet requirements and governance.

Balance sheet and capital management

Total equity of the Group was \$1,261.8 million as at 31 March 2021, an increase of \$310.7 million compared to the previous financial year, primarily attributed to the unwinding of the hedge reserve through other comprehensive income.

Our current assets exceed current liabilities by \$963.1 million at 31 March 2021, due to significant debt raising undertaken in FY2021, the funds of which are held on deposit in advance of debt repayments, including the noncurrent hybrids (\$706 million) with a first call date in September 2021, which management intend to repay using these funds. The Group is, and is expected to continue trading profitably, generating positive operating cash flows and successfully refinancing maturing debt. In addition, at 31 March 2021, the Group has available a total of \$800.0 million of undrawn but committed bank debt facilities and \$1,496.1 million of cash and short term investments.

Non-current assets decreased by \$734.9 million compared to the prior year, due to \$913.4 million decrease in noncurrent derivatives, resulting from the large depreciation in the Australian Dollar, which decreases the carrying value of debt and decreases the derivative asset, partly offset by \$178.0 million of growth in property, plant and equipment driven by \$525.4 million of capital expenditure invested into the asset base offset by the depreciation of our assets.

Non-current liabilities increased by \$508.6 million due primarily to a net increase in long term debt of \$543.3 million, which reflects current year hybrid and bond raisings of \$2,131.9 million, reduced by revaluation to spot rate (offset in derivative asset decrease as hedged) of \$1,178.8 million and amounts reclassified to current borrowings of \$318.4 million. Derivative liabilities also decreased \$266.2 million as a result of rising interest rates, which is reflected in the hedge reserve movement, while deferred tax liabilities increased \$253.3 million primarily due to the tax effect of the change in derivative values.

Capital management

Our approach to capital management has the following objectives:

- Targeting credit metrics over the medium term that maintain an 'A' range credit rating, thereby providing financial flexibility and a low cost of capital.
- Managing financial risk prudently to ensure net exposures are maintained within target settings.
- Funding capital expenditure efficiently through various sources to support organic growth and other investment opportunities, while covering 100% of maintenance capital expenditure and a portion of growth capital expenditure from internal cash flows.

Debt raising

The Company is the central funding vehicle (CFV) for the AusNet Services Group.

In line with our Treasury Risk Policy, we maintain a diversified debt portfolio by maturity and source. AusNet has an A- credit rating from Standard and Poor's and A3 from Moody's Investor Services. The following debt raisings were completed during the year:

- A\$400 million of 10-to-20-year bond issues in July 2020;
- A\$650 million 60-year hybrid security issue in the form of non-convertible subordinated notes in September 2020;
- EUR 700 million (A\$1,082 million) 60-year hybrid security issue in the form of non-convertible subordinated notes in March 2021.

These issuances, in addition to our existing bank debt facilities, satisfy our refinancing requirements for the next 12 months and have increased the tenor of our debt portfolio.

Introduction and Contents

This report sets out the executive remuneration outcomes for FY2021.

The report also explains the Board's reasoning and considerations on the design and application of the remuneration framework to deliver sustainable business performance, stakeholder outcomes and reward shareholders.

The report has been prepared and audited against the disclosure requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

The remuneration report details the remuneration arrangements for Key Management Personnel (KMP). KMP are those persons who have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the Group, directly or indirectly.

The KMP of the Group are engaged to provide services to the AusNet Services Group and are not exclusive to any particular entity within AusNet Services. Accordingly, this report includes information that is common to AusNet Services Holdings Pty Ltd and AusNet Services Ltd. The remuneration amounts reported represent the total remuneration received by KMP during the year for services to the AusNet Services Group, and we have not apportioned between particular entities within the AusNet Services Group.

Section	Contents	Page
1	Key Management Personnel	14
2	Approach to executive remuneration	14
3	At risk and incentive components	16
4	FY2021 performance and remuneration summary	18
	- Business performance	18
	-Key remuneration outcomes for FY2021	19
5	FY2021 Executive KMP Incentive Plans - detailed outcomes	22
	- FY2021 STI key features	22
	 Managing Director and Executive KMP STI assessments 	23
	- 2020 LTI Grant	25
	- 2018 LTI Grant - performance assessment	26
6	Executive KMP – contract terms	27
7	Remuneration governance	29
8	Statutory remuneration disclosures	30

1 Key Management Personnel

AusNet's KMP are assessed each year by the Board and comprise the Directors of the company and Senior Executives. KMP have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of AusNet.

Those that are assessed to be KMP for FY2021 were as follows:

Name	Position	Date Appointed as KMP	
Executive KMP			
Tony Narvaez	Managing Director	November 2019	
Prue Crawford-Flett	Executive General Manager, Network Operations	20 May 2020 ¹	
Mark Ellul	Chief Financial Officer	September 2019	
Chad Hymas	Executive General Manager, Mondo	April 2013	
Alistair Parker	Executive General Manager, Regulated Energy Services	Ceased as KMP on 18 December 2020	
Mario Tieppo	Executive General Manager, Technology	Ceased as KMP on 23 April 2020	

1 Ms Crawford-Flett has been part of the Executive Leadership Team since April 2019 and became KMP following an operating model review announced in May 2020.

2 Approach to executive remuneration

AusNet owns and operates energy infrastructure that requires long term investment decisions. Our business decisions are made in this context and our approach to remuneration reflects the focus on outcomes that support the long-term growth, value creation and sustainability of our business.

We combine Fixed Annual Remuneration with Short and Long-Term Incentives to form an overall Total Remuneration position. This structure, plan design and market positioning are intended to attract and retain people who will execute our strategy and drive sustainable high performance over the short and long term.

Remuneration outcomes reflect both individual and overall company performance; this approach enables us to reward performance in ways that are aligned with shareholder outcomes.

The Board reviews the structure and effectiveness of the remuneration arrangements annually to ensure their alignment to business performance and strategy.

Purpose of each remuneration component

Fixed Annual Remuneration	Short-Term Incentive	Long-Term Incentive
(FAR)	(at risk)	(at risk)
To attract and retain, paying competitively, reflecting each role's impact and accountabilities along with the incumbent's skills, experience, capability and performance.	Connect and reward for achievement against an annual balanced scorecard of measures aligned with the agreed Strategic and Financial Plan; and Drives and Rewards increments of outperformance against targets set.	To reward and retain executives and key contributors aligned with long- term value creation in line with shareholder interests.

2 Approach to executive remuneration (continued)

Remuneration Pri	nciples
Principle	Implications for Remuneration Framework Design and Operation
Is aligned to strategy and business needs	 Remuneration frameworks and mix will operate in support of our purpose, values and strategy inclusive of our desired culture.
	• Decisions on the remuneration framework and mix will be informed by external market information and internal relativities.
ls market competitive	 Benchmarking will be undertaken against the relevant market(s) within which we compete for talent.
	• Total remuneration outcomes are generally targeted to be at the relevant market median.
	• Remuneration outcomes will reflect short-term performance and long-term value creation, with appropriate differentiation to encourage high performance.
Is structured to	 Clawback applies to variable remuneration in the event of past performance misstatement or misconduct.
drive and reflect performance	 Performance ranges to be met for payment (at threshold, target and maximum) will be set after considering historical and forecast analysis.
	Assessment will consider both assessed outcomes and behaviours.
Is simple and transparent	The remuneration framework will be easy to explain to participants, and the market.
	The Remuneration Committee and Board will ensure that remuneration outcomes reflect assessment of both risk and performance.
Is subject to effective	Remuneration outcomes will be aligned with shareholder outcomes and interests.
governance	Regular reviews of these Principles and the company's remuneration framework will occur to ensure that they remain effective.

3 At risk and incentive components

The following table summarises the relative size of the short-term incentive and long-term incentive reward components for the Managing Director and other Executive KMP and the key performance measures applicable for the performance period ending 31 March 2021. It also summarises the incentive award delivery mechanism, Board discretion and claw-back features of the plans.

	Short-Term Incentive (at risk)			Long-Term Incentive (at risk)		
Incentive Opportunity	Threshold	Target	Maximum	Thresh	old	Maximum
	Short an	d Long-Term	Incentive opportuniti	es are express	ed as a perc	centage of FAR
Managing Director Mr Narvaez	30%	60%	90%	18% ¹		100%
Executive General Manager G&FN Mr Hymas Chief Financial Officer Mark Ellul from 11 Nov 20	30%	60%	90%	9%		50%
Other Executive KMP	20%	40%	60%	9%		50%
Performance measures	 and non-financ Three financial Equity (ROE) focus on ability and effectively Non-financial n health, safety a to strategic initi STI outcome su 	ial measures. measures – I and Company to grow reve manage worki neasures drive and environme atives. bject to gatewa to cash flow fro	EBITDA, Return on opex (ex G&FN) nues, control costs ng capital. the importance of ant and contribution	 Return (TS Share (EP) on Investe TSR meas investment of a compa EPS comp provides a value. 	SR) (50 per S) growth (2 d Capital (R sures return ts made aga arator group. bound annua tangible me sures return	e Total Shareholder r cent), Earnings per 5 per cent) and Return OIC) (25 per cent). s generated from the ainst the performance al growth rate (CAGR) easure of shareholder s generated from
Delivery mechanism	EGM G&FN, two as cash and one right (with a two • The number of s calculating the v (VWAP) of Aust price over a five on the date Aus Results.	o-thirds of the e-third is delive -year deferral share rights is volume weighte Net Services L e-day trading p Net releases it	period) determined by ed average price td (AST) share eriod commencing	rights, sub performane employme • Each reci subject to and applie	pject to testin ce meant and Board pient of ve the AusNet cable laws,	nted as performance ng against the above sures, continued d discretion. sted share rights is Share Trading Policy to sell, transfer or heir securities.
Board Discretion and Clawback	 The Board assesses performance against short- and long-term criteria and has discretion to determine award outcomes at the end of the respective performance periods. The Board may determine that any awards be clawed back or cancelled in response to a broad range of events or circumstances in the event an unfair benefit has or will be obtained. This could be as a result of, but not limited to, fraud, dishonesty, gross misconduct or breach of obligations. 					s. esponse to a broad obtained. This could

¹ Threshold performance reflects 0 per cent outcomes for ROIC and EPS and 35 per cent outcome for TSR.

3 At risk and incentive components (continued)

Remuneration mix - at a glance

The respective total reward mix for all Executive KMP is as follows, assuming business performance results in target vesting for STI and maximum vesting for LTI.

MANAGING DIRECTOR - Mr NARVAEZ

Fixed Pay	38.5%
STI Cash	15.3%
STI Deferred	7.7%
LTI	38.5%
At risk	61.5%



CFO - Mr Ellul (from 11 Nov 2	0)
EGM G&FN - Mr HYMAS	

Fixed Pay	47.6%
STI Cash	19.1%
STI Deferred	9.5%
LTI	23.8%
At risk	52.4%



OTHER KMP

Fixed Pay	52.6%
STI Cash	21.1%
LTI	26.3%
At risk	47.4%



4 FY2021 performance and remuneration summary

For FY2021, business performance was solid and financial performance was not affected significantly due to internal initiatives taken at the beginning of the COVID-19 global pandemic and the broader economic response. Net profit after tax improved on FY2020 as a result of underlying revenue growth, operating cost constraint, prudent capital management and two significant one-off non cash adjustments to net finance costs and income tax expense also contributed positively.

When initially setting targets for FY2021, the Board took into consideration a number of key assumptions with respect to the potential financial impact of COVID-19 on the business. In its assessment of FY2021 STI outcomes, management and the Board took into account actual business performance against these assumptions which resulted in the Board moderating outcomes for the EBITDA and Return on Equity (ROE) KPIs.

In assessing performance and remuneration outcomes for FY2021, the Board considered both the individual items contributing to performance and the combined impact. This scrutiny was designed to ensure that the assessed outcomes accord with the Remuneration Principles and do not undermine the role of remuneration design in supporting business performance.

The Board awarded STI vesting outcomes of 102.0 per cent of target to the MD, reflecting a combination of financial and strategic outcomes.

Performance over the FY2019 to FY2021 performance period gave rise to a 37.5 per cent LTI vesting.

The table and charts below show key financial performance outcomes for the current and past reporting periods. Executive remuneration outcomes, STI and LTI awards correlate to business performance and shareholder outcomes for the period FY2017 – FY2021.

Financial performance	FY17 ¹	FY18	FY19	FY20	FY21
NPAT (\$m)	255	291	254	291	302
EBITDA (\$m)	1,073	1,143	1,134	1,196	1,155
Return on Equity (%)	7.0	8.0	7.3	9.2	9.4
Total Shareholder Return (TSR) Percentile Ranking - relative performance	68.6	64.2	63.9	67.8	60.6
Earnings Per Share (EPS) (%) 3-year compound annual growth rate (CAGR)	3.4	130.4	(21.0)	3.3	(0.2)
Return on Invested Capital (ROIC) (%) 3-year average	4.89	5.67	4.70	4.82	4.75
Share price at 31 March (\$)	1.685	1.675	1.755	1.710	1.835
Dividends (cents per share) ¹	9.80	9.25	9.72	10.20	9.50
STI vested as % of target - MD	96.8	110.0	105.0	82.0	102.0
LTI vested as % of target	76.1	85.9	54.3	65.6	37.5

¹ FY2017 dividends consist of 8.8 cents per share ordinary dividend and 1.0 cents per share special dividend

4 FY2021 performance and remuneration summary (continued)

Summary – Key remuneration outcomes for FY2021

Executive remuneration	During FY2021, the Board reviewed the remuneration arrangements with respect to the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) Mr Ellul. The review took into consideration Mr Ellul's expanded strategic and operational responsibilities with respect to the AusNet Digital Division, consideration of external market benchmarking and Mr Ellul's development and performance in the CFO role since September 2019.
	As a result of that review, the Board approved a fixed annual remuneration adjustment to \$600,000 effective 11 November 2020. In addition, the Board approved an uplift of STI opportunity to 60% (from 40% at target) noting two thirds of any STI award made will be paid in cash and one third will be delivered by way of share rights (with a two-year deferral period).
	Mr Steven Neave was appointed to the role of Executive General Manager Network Management on 15 July 2020. Mr Neave's remuneration arrangements were set after considering external market information, his role and accountabilities and his respective experience and capabilities.
	While we implemented a new operating model in May 2020, no other changes to Executive KMP remuneration, including fixed remuneration, were made in FY2021.
FY2021 Short Term Incentive Plan outcomes	Taking into account the revised (upwards) targets and performance ranges for the EBITDA and ROE KPIs, the MD STI outcome was 102.0 per cent of target as a result of solid financial, safety and strategic related KPI performance. The MD's FY2020 STI award was at target (100%) in line with an undertaking with the Board on his commencement in November 2019.
	Other Executive KMP STI scorecard outcomes varied between 72.0 per cent and 102.0 per cent of target which compares to between 82.0 per cent and 98.0 per cent for FY2020.
	Further details of the FY2021 STI plan and outcomes can be found in Section 5.
Vesting of 2018 Long-Term Incentive Plan awards (FY2019-	The LTI awards granted in 2018, (applicable for the FY2019 – FY2021 performance period), were tested against performance criteria, resulting in a vesting outcome of 37.5 per cent. The LTI vesting outcome reflects:
FY2021 performance	• relative total shareholder return ranking of 60.6 percentile,
period)	 return on invested capital of 4.75 per cent three year compound annual earnings per share growth (EPS CAGR) of minus 0.2 per cent.
	MD Mr Narvaez was not eligible to receive an award under the 2018 LTI grant. The FY2021 outcome represents the 2018 grant vesting applicable to other eligible Executive KMP.
	Further details of the LTI plan and LTI vesting can be found in Section 5.
MD 2020 Long- Term Incentive Plan grant (FY2021-FY2023 performance period)	As approved by shareholders at the July 2020 Annual General Meeting (AGM), the MD's 2020 LTI grant was based on a maximum vesting opportunity of 100 per cent of fixed remuneration. Mr Narvaez was granted 601,402 Performance rights applicable for the 2020 LTI grant which will be tested and assessed for vesting by the Board at the conclusion of the FY2021 – FY2023 three-year performance period.

4 FY2021 performance and remuneration summary (continued)



Chart 1: MD Overall STI Outcome % of Target to EBITDA and NPAT

Chart 2: MD Overall LTI Outcome % of Maximum to EPS and TSR Percentile Ranking

Note FY20 and FY21 MD LTI vesting % outcome related to previous MD, Mr Ficca. Mr Narvaez was not eligible to receive an award under the 2017 or 2018 LTI grant



4 FY2021 performance and remuneration summary (continued)

FY2021 actual remuneration paid to Executive KMP (unaudited)

The table below sets out the actual remuneration paid to current Executive KMP over the past two reporting years. This includes annual fixed remuneration, STI cash paid, the value of deferred STI rights in respect to the MD, CFO and EGM G&FN, and the value of the 2018 LTI awards and special purpose incentive that vested in FY2021.

Note that the following table is non-IFRS information and is unaudited.

Executive KMP	FY	Fixed Annual Remunerati on ¹	Short Term Incentive Paid ²	STI Deferred (2 years) 3	Special Purpose Incentive	LTI Vested 4	One-off payment &/or relocation allowance paid	One-off payment deferred (2 years)	Total
Tony Narvaez ⁵	2021	1,150,000	469,200	234,600		-			1,853,800
Nai Vacz	2020	479,200	191,667	95,833		-	400,000	450,000	1,616,700
Prue Crawford- Flett ⁹	2021	450,000	183,600			-			633,600
Mark Ellul ⁶	2021	538,630	217,717	47,152		30,791			834,290
	2020	242,541	80,483			47,153			370,177
Chad Hymas	2021 2020	486,000 486,000	197,316 184,680	98,658 92,340		92,045 143,823			874,019 906,843
Steven ⁷ Neave	2021	320,548	128,219			-	100,000	100,000	648,767
Alistair Parker ⁸	2021 2020	358,904 550,000	113,731 180,400		171,061	102,272 159,804			745,968 890,204

1. Fixed Annual Remuneration includes cash salary and fees, leave entitlements and superannuation.

2. Represents amounts vested in current year, to be paid in May 2021.

3. STI deferred value relates to FY2021 performance year deferred into share rights for a period of two years

 LTI vesting is calculated based on the number of 2018 performance rights vested multiplied by the share price at 31 March 2021 being \$1.835.

FY2020 amounts for Mr Narvaez are based on actual earnings applicable for his period of employment commencing 1 November 2019. One
off payment and relocation allowance paid as cash. One off deferred payment granted as deferred share rights.

 FY2020 amounts for Mr Ellul are on actual earnings from 21 September 2019. Mr Ellul's LTI vested value represents vested share rights granted to him in 2017 & 2018 whilst employed in his previous role.

7. FY2021 amounts for Mr Neave are based on actual earnings applicable for his period of employment commencing 15 July 2020. Mr Neave received a one-off sign on benefit of \$200,000 which comprised a \$100,000 cash paid upon his commencement and \$100,000 deferred into share right. In July 2020, Mr Neave received 57,375 share rights at an allocation price of \$1.7429 to be deferred for a period of two years.

- 8. On 18 December 2020 Alistair Parker stepped down as EGM Regulation and External Affairs and ceased to be a KMP from that date. Mr Parker ceased to be an employee from 31 March 2021. The actual pay above represents the pro rata value applicable for the period of employment as a KMP in FY2021. The special purpose performance incentive for Mr Parker is the pro rata value taking the number of rights granted in 2019 being 108,713 multiplied by the vesting percentage outcome of 100% multiplied by the AusNet Services Share price as at 31 March 2021 being \$1.835.
- Ms Crawford-Flett realised pay amounts reflect annual amount received, while Section 9 shows amounts relating to period acting as KMP (from 20 May 2020).

Statutory accounting disclosures of remuneration which are shown in Section 9 of this report differ from the actual pay received due to the accounting treatment of leave provisions and unvested LTI awards.

The following table illustrates the MD's actual STI and total remuneration outcomes for FY2021 compared to maximum remuneration opportunity. Note that Mr Narvaez was not eligible to receive an award under the 2018 LTI grant.



20%

10%

5%

5 FY2021 Executive KMP Incentive Plans – Structure and Outcomes

FY2021 Short-Term Incentive Plan

The FY2021 STI Plan continues to use a single additive scorecard covering financial and non-financial measures. Key features of the Plan are set out as follows:

Board discretion	In general, the Board's policy is not to adjust statutory financial performance against targets when assessing remuneration outcomes. However, management and the Board considers it is prudent and appropriate to apply discretion when assessing outcomes affected by unforeseen events and known but unquantifiable events. In FY2021, management and the Board exercised discretion to remove expected COVID-19 impacts that did not eventuate from the outperformance against targets achieved.							
		formance	targets and					s, and any assessed
STI Opportunity	STI opportu per design			a percentage	e of the pa	rticipant'	s FAR at	target performance as
STI Performance	STI paymer	nts are sul	oject to two	gateways:				
gateways and moderator	 cash flow from operational performance provides the company with the ability to parshareholder dividends in accordance with AusNet's dividend guidance targets for the relevance year. in the event of a fatality, the Board retains complete discretion to adjust any STI award for the MD, other Executive KMP or other employees. 						targets for the relevant	
	The Board	considers	the link betw	ween deliver	ing on bus			e and driving the right ousiness performance.
	to values, r	isk, compl		prise leaders	ship and c			red including alignment esult in the application
STI Performance Measures and		Fir	nancial				Non-fina	ncial
weightings MD and Executive	EBIT	DA I	Return on equity	Company Opex (ex G&FN)	ex Index KPIs aligned to strategic p		o strategic priorities	
KMP (ex EGM G&FN	30% 20% 10% 5% 35%						35%	
EGM G&FN			Finan					Non-financial
	EBITDA Return Company on Opex (ex equity G&FN) G&FN Growt						HSEQ Index	KPIs aligned to strategic priorities

STI performance measures are designed to connect and reward achievement against an annual balanced scorecard of measures aligned with the agreed Strategic and Financial Plan

35%

5%

25%

KPIs aligned to strategic priorities are set by the Board for the MD. For FY2021 the Board set the MD's strategic KPIs to be focused on managing free cash flow in the context of COVID-19 and organisational leadership, resilience and transformation of the business for the medium to longer term.

For the executive team, KPIs reflecting a cascade of the strategic priorities as appropriate for each role were applied.

5 FY2021 Executive KMP Incentive Plans – Structure and Outcomes (continued)

FY2021 Managing Director (MD) STI scorecard performance outcomes are set out in the table below:

Design aspect	MD FY2020 STI Scorecard										
Eligibility & performance gates		The Board assessed the financial and safety performance gateways, which are preconditions for any STI payment and determined that FY2021 performance met gateway criteria.									
Assessment	The Board reviewe	d the MD's FY2021 STI scorecard	performar	nce including progress	s on strategic measures.						
of KPIs	In addition, the Bo enterprise leadersh		esults were	e achieved including	alignment to values, risk, compliance,						
	The resulting outcome was 102.0 per cent of target performance.										
	Measure	Strategy, Performance and Reward alignment	Weighti ng	FY2020 Vesting Outcome	Outcome Commentary						
Financial	EBITDA	EBITDA is considered the most relevant financial performance measure in the utilities industry as it represents a proxy for cash generation, which influences dividend growth and is aligned with shareholder outcomes.	30%	Max Target Threshold	EBITDA outcome was above target as a result of both revenue outperformance (across regulated and unregulated businesses). In addition, operating costs were constrained.						
	Return on equity	Return on equity is an important measure in demonstrating relative financial performance and aligns with shareholder outcomes.	20%	Max Target Threshold	Return on equity achieved above target vesting through a combination of favourable net profit after tax and prudent balance sheet and capital management.						
	Company operating expenditure (excluding G&FN)	Constraining operating expenditure for the regulated business is critical to our benchmarking outcomes and considered a key lever in improving financial performance.	10%	Max Target Threshold	Company operating expenditure outcome was above target due to prudent operating cost management ahead of targets set, with an operating model review delivering substantial headcount reduction during the year.						
Safety	HSEQ Index	This index blends key lead and lag indicators focussed on the ongoing improvement of our safety performance and culture.	5%	Max Target Threshold	The HSEQ Index has strongly outperformed in three of the key components with the exception of one lag indicator which achieved an at target outcome. This resulted in an index score of 110.						
	Free Cash Flow	Managing the financial implications of COVID-19 and its uncertainty to ensure liquidity and preserve cash in the medium to short term	10%	Max Target Threshold	Strong free cash flow achieved during the year, combined with the execution of proactive cost saving measures in response to COVID-19 uncertainty.						
Strategic	Organisational leadership, resilience and transformation	Strategic focus areas centred on organisational health, transformation, simplified operating model, digital investment, customer support and stakeholder management and advocacy designed to ensure that the business reinvents itself with the capability, cost base and agility to deliver on the strategy.	25%	Max Target Threshold	In FY2021, an enterprise-wide transformation program commenced with a significant number of initiatives delivered across a number of streams, achieving both financial and non-financial outcomes.						

5 FY2021 Executive KMP Incentive Plans – Structure and Outcomes (continued)

Design aspect	Managing Director FY2020 STI Scorecard
Delivery Mechanism	Two-thirds of the MD's and other relevant Executive KMP STI award is paid in cash with one-third deferred into share rights held over a two-year period. The number of share rights is determined by dividing one-third of their FY2021 STI award by the allocation price. The allocation price is determined by calculating the volume weighted average price (VWAP) of AusNet Services Ltd (AST) share price over a five-day trading period commencing on the date AusNet releases its FY2021 Financial Results, unless otherwise determined by the Board.
Deferred Share Rights	The Deferred STI share rights are not subject to any additional performance testing. The share rights are subject to forfeiture in the event of termination for cause. Shares are held in Trust on behalf of the MD and relevant Executive KMP throughout the two-year deferral period and will be transferred to them at the conclusion of the two-year deferral period.
Dividends	Whilst the MD and relevant Executive KMP do not have a right to receive dividends during the two-year deferral period, a cash-based Dividend Equivalent Payment is made at the conclusion of the deferral period in accordance with plan rules. This payment will be based on the equivalent value of dividends that would have been ordinarily received during the deferral period if the shares were held directly and is not adjusted for franking credits.
Clawback	The Board may determine that any Deferred STI Rights awards be clawed back or cancelled in response to a broad range of events or circumstances in the event an unfair benefit has or will be obtained. This could be as a result of, but not limited to, fraud, dishonesty, gross misconduct or breach of obligations.
Shareholder approval	During FY21, the Board reviewed its approach to seeking shareholder approval for the MD's Deferred STI equity grants arising from the one-year performance year just concluded. The Board considered the legal requirements under ASX listing rule 10.14, market practice across ASX100 companies and external legal advice before concluding that ceasing the current practice of seeking shareholder approval for the Deferred STI rights was appropriate. The Board will continue to seek shareholder approval for the MD's proposed Long Term Incentive equity grants inclusive of explanatory notes outlining the three-year performance and vesting criteria.
	The MD's FY2021 Deferred STI grant is anticipated to be made in late May 2021 in accordance with the Board approved delivery mechanism outlined above. Details of the MD's FY2021 Deferred STI grant, including the number of deferred shares rights granted and actual grant price, will be detailed to shareholders in the 2021 Notice of Meeting.
Executive KM	P Scorecard Outcomes
Executive KMP STI outcomes	Executive KMP STI scorecards included the same assessed financial and safety weightings as for the MD (except for EGM of G&FN, which has a higher financial weighting as shown at the start of Section 5) with individual strategic KPIs determined for each role. In addition, the Board assessed individual KMP on how results were achieved including their alignment to values, risk, compliance, enterprise leadership and culture.
outcomes	The range of FY2021 STI outcomes for Executive KMP was between 72.0 per cent of target and 102.0 per cent of target STI opportunity, or 48.0 per cent to 68.0 per cent of maximum STI opportunity.
Delivery	Executive KMP awards are paid in cash except for CFO Mr Ellul and EGM G&FN, Mr Hymas, who have two-thirds of their STI award paid in cash with one-third deferred into share rights held over a two-year period under the same terms and conditions as set out for the MD above.
mechanism	Cash awards are anticipated to be paid to eligible Executive KMP in late May 2021.
	The CFO and EGM G&FN Deferred STI grants are anticipated to be made in late May 2021 in accordance with the Board approved delivery mechanism outlined above.

5 FY2021 Executive KMP Incentive Plans – Structure and Outcomes (continued)

Long-Term Incentive Plan 2020 Grant

The terms of the 2020 LTIP Grant made are summarised below. These grants were made to Executive KMP, and other participants in August 2020 (usually in May each year, however was later in FY2021 due to an operating model review being implemented at the time). The MD's grant was made shortly after shareholder approval in July 2020.

Design aspect	Commentary
Eligibility	Executive KMP. The Board has discretion to invite additional employees to participate in the LTI plan.
Performance period	The 2020 LTI grant is for the three-year performance period commencing 1 April 2020 and ending on 31 March 2023 (FY2021 to FY2023).
Opportunity	The LTI award opportunity is based on a percentage of the participant's FAR as at the grant date. The number of performance rights granted is the LTI award opportunity divided by the volume weighted average share price (VWAP) over the five-trading day period commencing on 12 May 2020 being the date on which AusNet released its FY2020 results. The grant price for the 2020 grant was therefore \$1.9122.
	The MD was granted 601,402 performance rights shortly after shareholders voted and elected to approve his grant at the AGM held in July 2020 being 100% of his Fixed Annual Remuneration being \$1,150,000 divided by the grant price of \$1.9122.
	Other participants, including Executive KMP grants were made in August 2020.
	Other Executive KMP – 50 per cent of FAR at maximum performance.

Performance measures	Total Shareholder Return (TSR)	Earnings Per Share (EPS)	Return on Invested Capital (ROIC)				
	The comparator group used for the TSR performance measure is the S&P/ASX 100 index (without exceptions).	The ROIC measure is designed to measure how effectively we use funds (borrowed and owned) invested in our operations.					
hurdles have been met, the Board the nom		The EPS growth measure reflects the nominal CAGR over the three- year performance period.	ROIC is calculated over a three-year performance period and equals (NPAT + Finance Cost adjusted for Tax) / (Average Equity + Average Debt). Average debt includes finance lease liabilities. Finance cost includes associated finance lease income and expense.				
Weighting,	Weighting 50%	Weighting 25%	Weighting 25%				
targets and vesting scales	Threshold performance 50 th percentile – 35 per cent vesting	Threshold performance 2.5 per cent CAGR – 0 per cent vesting	Threshold performance 4.33 per cent – 0 per cent vesting				
	Maximum performance 75 th percentile – 100 per cent vesting	Maximum performance 4.53 per cent – 100 per cent vesting					
	The vesting of each of the above KPIs will occur on a linear basis between the threshold and maximum ranges.						
Unvested rights and dividends	No dividends or dividend equivale period.	ent payments accrue to unvested r	ights during the performance				
Discretion and Change of Control	Performance against the Long-Term criteria is assessed and award outcomes determined by the Board at its absolute discretion at the end of the respective performance periods. If a Change of Control Event occurs, or the Board determines such event is likely to occur, the Board has absolute discretion to determine the treatment of any or all of the Participant's unvested Performance Rights.						
Clawback	broad range of events or circums	ny LTI Rights awards be clawed ba tances in the event an unfair benef nited to, fraud, dishonesty, gross m					

(CAGR)

ROIC

creation.

operations.

ROIC measures returns generated from investments in

Directors' report - Remuneration report (audited)

5 FY2020 Executive KMP Incentive Plans – Structure and Outcomes (continued)

2018 LTI Grant - Performance assessment and outcomes

The Board assessed performance of the 2018 LTI Award is set out below. For participants to qualify for an award under the ROIC measure, a safety performance gateway of zero fatalities for our employees in the 12-month period prior to vesting must be achieved.

Design aspec	t		Comm	entary					
Performance period		The 2018 LTI grant is for the three-year performance period commencing 1 April 2018 and ending on 31 March 2021 (FY2019 to FY2021).							
Opportunity		The LTI award is calculated as a percentage of the participant's FAR as at the grant date. The number of performance rights issued is the percentage of FAR divided by the volume weighted average price (VWAP) over the five-trading day period commencing on the date AusNet released its FY2018 results. The 2018 LTI grant price was therefore \$1.6821.							
		MD Mr Narvaez was not eligible as	grants to these av	wards were ma	ade p	rior to his	commencement.		
		Other Executive KMP – 50 per cent Mr Ellul for whom the 2018 grant wa to all other participants including Ex	as based on the ro	ole he previous					
Performance measures		Total Shareholder Return (TSR)		Per Share PS)		Return	on Invested Capital (ROIC)		
Weighting, ta		Weighting 50%	Weighting 25%			Weighting 25%			
and vesting scales		Threshold Performance 50 th percentile – 35 per cent vesting	Threshold Perforr 2.5 per cent CAG vesting			Threshold Performance 4.70 per cent – 0 per cent vesting			
		Maximum performance 75 th percentile – 100 per cent vesting	Maximum perform 7.5 per cent CAG vesting			Maximum performance 4.90 per cent – 100 per cent ves			
		The vesting outcome for each of the	above KPIs occurs performan		is betv	veen the th	reshold and maximum		
		2017 LT	l Grant - Perform	nance Outcon	nes				
Assessed KPIs and outcome		ard assessed the performance of the LT formance criteria tested were relative to	0						
		pard assessed the 2018 LTI grant outcome which resulted in an overall vesting of 37.5 per cent of maximum (100 per opportunity as set out below.							
Performance measures	Measu	re Strategy, Performance and Rev	vard alignment	Weighting F	Y2020	Outcome	Performance Outcome		
	TSR	TSR measures returns generated fr investments made against performa group.		50%	•	Max Threshold	60.6 percentile ranking		
	EPS	EPS provides tangible measure of s	hareholder value						

Max

Threshold

Max

Threshold

25%

25%

0.2 per cent

4.75 per cent

6 Executive KMP – Contract terms

Mr Narvaez was appointed MD effective 1 November 2019. The terms of employment for Mr. Narvaez are set out below:

MD – Mr. Narvaez							
Term of agreement	t Full time, subject to six months' notice of termination by either party.						
Fixed annual	Fixed annual remuneration includes base salary and superannuation.						
remuneration	Fixed annual remuneration is reviewed periodically against market by the Remuneration Committee and the Board, with no guarantee of annual increase.						
	No increase was applied to Mr Narvaez fixed annual remuneration during FY2021						
Short-term	Annual invitation to participate with a one-year performance period.						
incentive (at risk)	STI awards are delivered as two-thirds in cash payment and one-third in deferred rights, with a two-year deferral period. Unless otherwise determined by the Board, STI awards are forfeited if terminated for cause or prior to vesting date.						
	Clawback provisions apply in Deferred Short -Term Incentive plan rules.						
Long-term	Annual invitation to participate with three-year performance period.						
incentive (at risk)	Treatment of LTI awards is stated in the LTI plan rules and the specific terms of grant. In general, unless otherwise determined by the Board, LTI awards lapse upon resignation or termination for cause and for termination without cause will remain on foot on a pro-rata basis, to be tested against the relevant performance conditions at the vesting date.						
	Clawback provisions apply in Long Term Incentive plan rules.						

Mr Narvaez - Summary of Equity Grants

The below table represents a summary of all equity grants applicable to the MD Mr. Narvaez. All share rights are subject to forfeiture in the event of termination for cause. Shares are held in Trust on behalf of the MD throughout the deferral and performance periods and will be transferred to the MD upon the Boards determination of vesting conditions being satisfied.

Grant Type	Date	Grant Price	Number of rights granted	Instrument	Notes
Grant on appointment	Nov-19	\$1.8152	247,907	Deferred share right	One off grant to compensate for incentives no longer eligible for at previous employer. Two- year deferral period expires Nov 2021.
2020 Short Term Incentive Plan	Jul -20	\$1.9122	50,117	Deferred share right	Represents one third of FY2020 Short Term Incentive outcome. Two- year deferral period expires July 2022.
2019 Long Term Incentive Plan	Nov-19	\$1.8397	260,459	Performance share right	Pro rata grant for the performance period FY20 - FY22. Performance criteria to be tested by the Board in May 2022.
2020 Long Term Incentive Plan	Jul-20	\$1.9122	601,402	Performance share right	Grant for the performance period FY21 - FY23. Performance criteria to be tested by the Board in May 2023.
Total ¹			1,159,885		

(1) In May 2021, it is anticipated that Mr Narvaez will receive 127,847 rights (assuming 31 March 2021 share price of \$1.835) on two-year deferral terms as a result of the FY2021 STI outcome. The actual allocation price is determined by calculating the volume weighted average price (VWAP) of AusNet Services Ltd (AST) share price over a five-day trading period commencing on the date AusNet releases its FY2021 Financial Results, unless otherwise determined by the Board.

6 Executive KMP Remuneration (continued)

The major provisions contained in the services agreements of the other Executive KMP are substantially the same as those that apply to the MD other than the term of agreement, short-term and long-term incentive opportunities as set out in the following table:

Executive KMP	
Term of agreement	Full time, subject to three months' notice of termination by either party.
Short-term incentive (at risk)	Annual short-term incentive is expressed as a percentage of FAR for on-target performance.
	Mr Hymas – 60 per cent
	Mr Ellul - 60 per cent (from 11 November 2020)
	STI awards for Mr Ellul and Mr Hymas are delivered as two-thirds in cash payment and one-third in deferred rights, with a two-year deferral period. Unless otherwise determined by the Board, STI awards are forfeited if terminated for cause prior to vesting date.
	Other Executive KMP – 40 per cent delivered as a cash payment.
Long-term incentive (at	Long-term incentive is 50 per cent of FAR for maximum performance.
risk)	Treatment of LTI awards are stated in the LTI plan rules and the specific terms of grant. In general, unless otherwise determined by the Board, LTI awards lapse upon resignation or termination for cause and for termination without cause will remain on foot on a pro- rata basis, to be tested against the relevant performance conditions at the vesting date.
	Annual invitation to participate with three-year performance period.
	Clawback provisions apply in plan rules.
Termination benefits	Termination benefits calculated at three weeks' pay for every year of service paid at the Executive KMP's FAR rate and capped at six months.

7 Remuneration Governance

AusNet's Board recognises that remuneration arrangements are important enablers and drivers of business performance and effective remuneration governance therefore requires diligence, access to data and information, external input and judgement. The roles, approach to discretion and equity plans are summarised as follows:

Roles and Responsibilities

Clear roles assist efficient assessment and decision-making. The Board and Committee Charters establish clear roles for the Board and Remuneration Committee in relation to MD and Executive KMP remuneration and the overall remuneration framework and principles.

Board

The Board oversees AusNet's remuneration arrangements. It is accountable for the remuneration of executives and of Non-executive Directors, and the policies and processes governing remuneration.

The Board's Remuneration Principles serve as a reference point for decisions on remuneration matters. These Principles are set out in Section 2 of this report.

The Board assesses the performance of the MD and oversees Executive KMP performance and approves all related reward outcomes.

The Board's stakeholder engagement plan includes regular remuneration related interactions and formal meetings, which inform the Board's thinking and decisions on remuneration. In addition, the Board seeks input from external advisors to challenge its thinking and to support informed and independent decision-making by the Board.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee reviews and make recommendations to the Board on matters of remuneration frameworks and structure, non-executive remuneration levels and executive remuneration, including fixed and variable pay elements.

Directors regularly receive and review current remuneration market practices and emerging trends and assess their relevance to AusNet.

The Committee undertakes rigorous historical analysis and forecasting when considering short and long-term performance criteria. It monitors and formally assesses the effectiveness of the remuneration structure and arrangements. In addition, the Committee monitors internal and external trends on pay compression, diversity and gender pay relativities.

External Advisors	Management
The Remuneration Committee has appointed Ernst and Young (EY) as its Remuneration Advisor and engages other external advisors as required. No remuneration recommendations, as defined by the <i>Corporations Act</i> 2001, were provided to the Remuneration Committee or the Board by EY during the reporting period. Advice provided to the Remuneration Committee by EY during the reporting period focussed on overall executive remuneration market practices and frameworks in addition to executive remuneration benchmarking.	Management provides information and insights on contemporary remuneration practices and obtains remuneration information from external advisors to assist the Remuneration Committee.

Board discretion: The Board retains absolute discretion to adjust Short-Term and Long-Term Incentive components and outcomes. In general, the Board's policy and practice is not to adjust statutory performance outcomes for significant items when assessing incentive outcomes.

Equity Plans: All executives receiving LTI awards are subject to AusNet's Share Trading Policy and applicable laws regarding the sale, transfer or disposal of their shares. In order to satisfy share-based incentive awards, shares are purchased on market and held in AusNet's Employee Share Plan Trust. AusNet's practice has been to seek shareholder approval for Long Term Incentive Plan equity grants to the MD at the AGM.

8 Statutory Remuneration Disclosures

8.1 Executive KMP Statutory Remuneration

Remuneration for Executive KMP, in accordance with statutory requirements for remuneration disclosures are as follows:

						Ot	her			Equity	Other	
						shor	t-term		Post-	based	long-term	
			Short-term			bene	fits 2,5		employment	payments 3	benefits 4,5	Total
											Long	
						Annual					Service	
						Leave		One-off			Leave	
		Cash	Dividend		Annual	Balance	-	relocation	-		Balance	
	- 1	salary and	equivalent		Leave	Net	Car	and	Super-		Net	
	FY	fees 5	payment 7	STI 1	taken	Change	Park	incentive	annuation		Change	
Tony Narvaez	2021	1,094,828	4,761	703,800	30,172	57,380	14,363	-	25,096	336,481	28,586	2,295,467
	2020	465,517	-	287,500	-	88,123	4,129	400,000	10,385	68,163	11,894	1,335,711
Nino Ficca	2020	591,333	34,021	466,908	109,169	(60,768)	5,814	-	66,548	161,071	19,591	1,393,687
Prue Crawford-Flett9	2021	363,122	-	158,998	4,885	24,775	12,435	-	21,731	23,851	9,703	619,500
Mark Ellul	2021	478,161	-	264,869	35,536	18,266	14,363	-	25,096	32,345	39,536	908,172
	2020	213,504	-	80,483	14,559	24,596	5,243	-	13,173	10,875	51,560	413,993
Chad Hymas	2021	439,805	4,588	295,974	21,195	14,951	14,363	-	25,096	57,660	12,257	885,889
	2020	445,104	-	277,020	17,663	29,200	9,943	-	25,192	63,765	28,103	895,990
Steven Neave6	2021	284,178	-	128,219	18,895	3,873	10,231	100,000	17,617	62,572	7,983	633,568
Adam Newman	2020	277,031	-	-	39,576	(14,248)	4,700	-	11,538	(169,488)	11,546	160,655
Alistair Parker 8	2021	356,034	-	113,731	22,126	7,073	10,310	-	18,077	103,490	10,072	640,913
	2020	482,759	-	180,400	44,253	1,268	9,943	-	25,192	153,592	18,718	916,125
Mario Tieppo	2021	27,682	-	-	-	2,173	905	-	1,635	4,208	697	37,300
	2020	379,406	-	158,400	47,222	(15,518)	9,943	-	25,192	42,554	11,208	658,407
Total KMP	2021	3,043,810	9,349	1,665,591	132,809	128,491	76,970	100,000	134,348	620,607	108,834	6,020,809
	2020	2,854,654	34,021	1,450,711	272,442	52,653	49,715	400,000	177,220	330,532	152,620	5,774,568

 FY2021 S7/ includes amounts in respect of performance for the year ended 31 March 2021. These amounts have been approved and will be payable in June 2021. Mr Ficca received a dividend equivalent payment relating to the 2017 STI Deferred Rights that vested in July 2019.

Other short-term benefits include car parking benefits and the accrual of annual leave entitlements. The allocation of the premium for Directors' and Officers' insurance is not included as under the terms of the current policy this information cannot be disclosed.

3. As the performance period over which the LTI awards vest is three years, the amount included in *Equity-based payments* is one-third of the amount estimated to vest at the end of the performance period for each outstanding award. This estimated amount is based on certain assumptions regarding the achievement of performance targets, which are reviewed and adjusted annually. Any adjustments to previously recognised amounts, both positive and negative, are included in the current year. The actual amounts vested under these awards will not be known until the end of the performance period. For Mr Ficca this amount includes the full estimated cost of on-foot grants.

4. Other long-term benefits include the accrual of long service leave entitlements.

5. The above table represents the accounting value of KMP remuneration, calculated in accordance with accounting standards. As a result, annual leave and long service leave entitlements are recognised as remuneration when they accrue rather than when they are taken. This has the impact of reducing the cash salary and fees remuneration disclosed in the table above when these leave entitlements are ultimately taken by the KMP. In addition, any changes to

8 Statutory Remuneration Disclosures (continued)

8.1 Executive KMP Statutory Remuneration (continued)

the value of leave entitlements (for example, because of changes in FAR or long service leave entitlements not vesting) are recognised as remuneration, either positive or negative, in the year that the change occurs. These accounting adjustments to remuneration values are reflected in the Cash salary and fees, Other short-term benefits and Other long-term benefits disclosed in the table.

Received a one-off sign on benefit of \$200,000 which comprised a \$100,000 cash paid upon Mr Neave's commencement and \$100,000 deferred into share rights. In July 2020, Mr Neave received 57,375 share rights at an allocation price of \$1.7429 to be deferred for a period of two years, the cost relating to the current year is disclosed within equity based payments.

FY2020 total values for Mr Ficca and Total KMP differ from FY2020 Statutory Remuneration disclosed amounts to reflect an adjustment to include the value of Mr Ficca's FY2020 Dividend Equivalent Payment of \$34,021. FY2021 amounts relate to dividend equivalent payments accrued to date on deferred STIs vesting in FY2023 as well as for rights issued as one-off sign-on benefits for Mr Narvaez and Mr Neave.

B. Represents the pro rata value applicable for the period of employment as a KMP in FY2021. Equity based payment value for Mr Parker contains a pro rata value attributed to his special purpose performance incentive plan trued up for any expense recognised in the prior year.

9. Represents the pro rata value applicable for the period of employment as KMP in FY2021.

8 Statutory Remuneration Disclosures (continued)

8.2 Short-Term Incentive Outcomes

The percentage of the available STI that was paid, or that vested, and percentage of target that was lapsed in the financial years ended 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020, are set out below.

		FY2	021 STI			FY20	20 STI	
	STI payable (\$) ¹	STI deferred (\$) ²	Total STI payable (\$)	Percentage of target payable	STI paid (\$)	STI deferred (\$) ³	Total STI paid (\$)	Percentage of target payable
Tony Narvaez	469,200	234,600	703,800	102.0	191,667	95,833	287,500	100
Prue Crawford- Flett⁴	158,998	-	158,998	102.0	-	-	-	-
Mark Ellul	217,717	47,152	264,869	101.0	80,483	-	80,483	98
Chad Hymas	197,316	98,658	295,974	101.5	184,680	92,340	277,020	95
Steven Neave	128,219	-	128,219	100.0	-	-	-	-
Alistair Parker	113,731	-	113,731	72.0	180,400	-	180,400	82

1. Incentive payments for the performance year ended 31 March 2021 have been approved and will be payable in June 2021.

2. One-third of the MD, CFO (pro rata from 11 November 2020) and EGM G&FN FY2021 award is deferred into share rights to be held for a period of two years. STI is paid in cash for all other executives.

3. Under the terms of the Deferral Plan, the deferred STI component of Mr Narvaez's and Mr Hymas' FY2020 STI was allocated by way of deferred rights to be held for a period of two years. The number of deferred rights issued was 50,117 for Mr Narvaez and 48,290 for Mr Hymas. The number of deferred rights was issued by dividing the value by the share price of \$1.9122. The share price was calculated based on the volume weighted average price (VWAP) over the five-trading day period commencing on the date AusNet released its FY2020 results.

4. Represents the pro rata value applicable for the period of employment as KMP in FY2021.

8.3 Long-Term Incentive

FY2021 LTI vesting outcomes

The performance rights vesting in FY2021 were granted to Executive KMP under the terms and conditions of the 2018 grant. The performance outcome, outlined in Section 5 of this report for the 2018 grant, resulted in 37.5 per cent of performance rights vesting as shown in the table below.

	2018 LTI Performance Rights						
	Granted	Vested	Forfeited	Lapsed			
Mark Ellul 1	44,746	16,780	-	27,966			
Chad Hymas	133,761	50,161	-	83,600			
Alistair Parker	148,623	55,734	-	92,889			

1. Mr Ellul's 2018 grant was made under the role he previously occupied

8 Statutory Remuneration Disclosures (continued)

LTI performance rights allocation - current

The LTI plan includes a three-year performance period. As at 31 March 2021, the grants subject to future performance testing and vesting cover grants made in 2018, 2019 and 2020. The following table shows the number and value of these grants. The performance periods for the grants made in 2019 and 2020 are still in progress and, as such vesting has not been assessed against the performance conditions at the date of this report.

KMP	Maximum total value of grant (\$) ^{1,2}	Performance rights granted	Maximum total value of grant (\$) ²	Performance rights granted	Maximum total value of grant (\$) ²	Performance rights granted
Grant	20	18	20	19	202	20
Test / Vesti	ng date 31 M	lar 2021	31 Ma	r 2022	31 Mai	r 2023
Tony Narvaez Prue	-	-	304,737	260,459	742,731	601,402
Crawford- Flett ³	-	-	143,094	122,302	145,317	117,665
Mark Ellul ⁴	47,207	44,746	49,141	42,001	161,463	130,739
Chad Hymas	141,118	133,761	154,542	132,087	156,941	127,078
Steven Neave⁵	-	-	-	-	103,513	83,816
Alistair Parker ⁶	156,798	148,623	116,595	99,654	59,203	47,938
Total	345,123	327,130	768,109	656,503	1,369,168	1,108,638

These grants have vested. In determining LTIs for the 2018 grant, vesting outcomes are set out in section 5 of this report 1.

Amounts represent the value of the performance rights on grant date. Refer to Note F.3 in the financial statements for further details.

2. 3. Ms Crawford-Flett was granted performance rights in the capacity of her previous role in 2019.

4. Mr Ellul was granted performance rights in the capacity of his previous role in 2018 and 2019.

Mr Neave was granted performance rights on a pro rata basis as he commenced in his role part-way through the year.

5. 6. Mr Parker has forfeited 49,827 performance rights from his 2019 grant and 95,876 performance rights from his 2020 grant as a result of ceasing employment with AusNet during FY2021

8.4 Shareholdings of KMP

All KMP must comply with AusNet's Share Trading Policy, which restricts trading in AusNet's shares to specified trading windows.

The KMP of AusNet have disclosed direct, indirect or beneficial interests in shares as at 31 March 2021 as follows:

Name	Number of shares at 1 April 2020	Granted during the year as compensation	Acquisitions / (disposals)	Number of shares at 31 March 2021
Executive KMP ¹				
Tony Narvaez	-	-	-	-
Prue Crawford- Flett	-	-	582	582
Mark Ellul	-	27,575	-	27,575
Chad Hymas	208,825	84,107	10,304	303,236
Steven Neave	-	-	-	-
Alistair Parker ²	360,574	93,452	(30,427)	423,599
Mario Tieppo ²	246,111	-	-	246,111

Total shareholdings include shares held by KMP and their related parties.

2. Mr Parker and Mr Tieppo shareholding as at 31 March 2021 represent shareholding when they ceased to be KMP

Meetings of Directors

The number of meetings of the Board of Directors of AusNet Services Holdings Pty Ltd held during the year ended 31 March 2021, and the number of meetings attended by each Director, are set out in the following table:

	Board of Services Pty	Holdings	
	A B		
Mark Ellul	11	11	
Tony Narvaez	11	11	
Alistair Parker ¹	9	11	

1. Mr Parker ceased as a Director on 18 December 2020

A = Number of meetings attended.

B = Number of meetings held during the time the Director held office

Indemnification and insurance of officers and auditors

The constitution of AusNet Services Holdings Pty Ltd provides for the company to indemnify each current and former Director, executive officer (as defined in the constitution), and such other current and former officers of the company or of a related body corporate as the Directors determine (each an 'Officer'), on a full indemnity basis and to the full extent permitted by law against all liabilities (as defined in the constitution) incurred by the Officer as an officer of the company or of a related body corporate.

The constitution also provides for AusNet Services Holdings Pty Ltd, to the extent permitted by law, to purchase and maintain insurance, or pay or agree to pay a premium for insurance, for each Officer against any liability (as defined in the constitution) incurred by the Officer as an officer of the company or of a related body corporate.

AusNet Services Holdings Pty Ltd may enter into a deed with any Officer to give effect to the rights conferred by the constitution as described previously.

The company has executed protection deeds in favour of each of the Directors, the Company Secretary and certain executive general managers on substantially the same terms as provided in the constitution. The deeds also give a right of access to the books of the companies and to Board documents (to the Directors only).

During the financial year, we paid a premium to insure the Directors and Company Secretaries of the Australianbased subsidiaries and the Executive General Managers of AusNet. The Directors have not included details of the nature of the liabilities covered or the amount of the premium paid in respect of the insurance policy, as (in accordance with normal commercial practice) such disclosure is prohibited under the terms of the policy.

No insurance premiums are paid by us in regard to insurance cover provided to the auditor of the Group, KPMG. The auditor is not indemnified and no insurance cover is provided to the auditor.

Non-audit services

We may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where the auditor's expertise and experience with the relevant company are important.

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor, KPMG, for audit and non-audit services provided during the year are set out in Note F.1 of the financial report.

In accordance with the advice provided by the Audit and Risk Committee, the Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the year by the auditor is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the *Corporations Act*. The Directors are satisfied for the following reasons:

- all non-audit services have been reviewed by the Audit and Risk Committee to ensure that they do not
 impact the impartiality and objectivity of the auditor; and
- none of the non-audit services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants.

A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the *Corporations Act* is set out on page 36.

Environmental regulation and climate change

We were subject to both Federal and State Government environmental legislation during the year. The most significant areas of environmental legislation affecting us are those which regulate noise emissions, greenhouse gas emissions, the discharge of emissions to land, air and water, the management of oils, chemicals and dangerous goods, the disposal of wastes, and those which govern the assessment of land use including the approval of developments. The Directors are not aware of any breaches of environmental legislation during the year which are material in nature.

Under the *National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting (NGER) Act 2007 (Cth)*, corporations that meet or exceed thresholds are required to report greenhouse gas emissions and energy usage by 31 October each year. We meet these thresholds and have lodged our NGER reporting with the Clean Energy Regulator for the period from 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020.

Significant changes in the state of affairs

Other than referred to above, in the opinion of the Directors, there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group that occurred during the year under review.

Rounding of amounts

AusNet Services Holdings Pty Ltd is a company of a kind referred to in Instrument 2016/201, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, relating to the 'rounding off' of amounts in the Directors' report. Amounts in the Directors' report have been rounded off in accordance with that Instrument to the nearest hundred thousand dollars unless otherwise stated.

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year

(a) EDPR 2021-26 final decision

The Australian Energy Regulator (AER) published its Final Decision on AusNet Services' 2021-26 Electricity Distribution Price Review on 30 April 2021. The final decision contained the following outcomes:

- Total revenue of \$3,470 million
- Total capital expenditure (real 2021\$) of \$1,384 million
- Total operating expenditure (real 2021\$) of \$1,239 million
- Total metering revenue of \$301 million

The Final Decision will be applicable to AusNet from 1 July 2021.

(b) Other matters

Other than outlined above, there has been no matter or circumstance that has arisen since 31 March 2021 up to the date of issue of this financial report that has significantly affected or may significantly affect:

- (a) the operations in financial years subsequent to 31 March 2021 of the Group;
- (b) the results of those operations; or
- (c) the state of affairs, in financial years subsequent to 31 March 2021, of the Group.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

her

Tony Narvaez Managing Director

Melbourne 11 May 2021


Lead Auditor's Independence Declaration under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001

To the Directors of AusNet Services Holdings Pty Ltd

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit of AusNet Services Holdings Pty Ltd for the financial year ended 31 March 2021 there have been:

- i. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the *Corporations Act 2001* in relation to the audit; and
- ii. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

KIMG KPMG

BW Szentirmay *Partner* Melbourne 11 May 2021

36

Consolidated income statement

For the year ended 31 March 2021

			2021	2020
		Notes	\$M	\$M
	Revenue	B.1, B.2	1,214.3	1,239.2
\geq	Use of system and associated charges		(118.7)	(120.6)
	Employee benefits expenses		(141.4)	(119.8)
	External maintenance and contractors' services		(110.3)	(120.1)
	Materials		(11.6)	(39.2)
	Information technology and communication costs		(43.4)	(43.1)
	Lease expenses		(2.5)	(1.9)
	Administrative expenses		(25.6)	(30.4)
	Service level payments		(10.3)	(12.9)
	Disposal of property, plant and equipment		(9.6)	(13.1)
))	Impairment	C.2	(30.7)	-
	Other expenses		(21.2)	(25.3)
))	Total expenses excluding depreciation, amortisation, interest and tax		(525.3)	(526.4)
2				
)	Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation		689.0	712.8
	Depreciation and amortisation	C.1, C.2	(336.8)	(342.4)
	Profit from operating activities		352.2	370.4
2				
))	Finance income	D.4	117.3	110.1
	Finance costs	D.4	(314.7)	(355.3)
	Net finance costs	_	(197.4)	(245.2)
	Profit before income tax		154.8	125.2
))	Income tax expense	B.4	(40.4)	(37.6)
	Profit for the year	_	114.4	87.6
11				

The above consolidated income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 March 2021

Ν	lotes	2021 \$M	2020 \$M
rofit for the year		114.4	87.6
ther comprehensive income			
ems that will not be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods			
ovement in defined benefit fund	F.2	30.0	(5.9)
come tax on movement in defined benefit fund	B.4	(9.0)	1.8
		21.0	(4.1)
ems that may be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods			
ovement in hedge reserve		494.9	(463.5)
come tax on movement in hedge reserve	B.4	(148.5)	139.0
	D.3	346.4	(324.5)
ther comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, net of tax		367.4	(328.6)
otal comprehensive income/(loss) for the year		481.8	(241.0)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consolidated statement of financial position

As at 31 March 2021

	Notes	2021 \$M	2020 \$M
ASSETS Current assets			
Cash and cash equivalents		826.3	154.1
Receivables	B.3	192.4	134.6
Other financial assets	C.3	669.8	249.9
nventories	B.3	39.5	40.4
Derivative financial instruments	D.3	17.7	194.7
Other assets	B.3	24.7	20.0
Fotal current assets	-	1,770.4	793.7
Non-current assets	F 0	0 407 4	0 40 4 7
Receivables	E.3	2,497.1	2,494.7
Property, plant and equipment	C.1	6,823.3	6,645.3
ntangible assets	C.2 C.3	472.5 7.8	502.7 6.3
Other financial assets Derivative financial instruments	D.3	323.9	0.3 1,237.3
Other assets	B.3	63.1	36.3
Total non-current assets		10,187.7	10,922.6
Total assets		11,958.1	11,716.3
LIABILITIES			
Current liabilities			
Payables and other liabilities	B.3	395.1	376.4
_ease liabilities	D.5	5.0	5.4
Provisions	B.3	67.6	41.8
Borrowings	D.2	318.4	955.2
Derivative financial instruments	D.3	21.2	6.0
Total current liabilities	_	807.3	1,384.8
Non-current liabilities			
Deferred revenue	B.3	112.7	116.0
_ease liabilities	D.5	42.3	45.4
Provisions	B.3 D.2	43.3 8,868.8	58.7 8 225 5
Borrowings Derivative financial instruments	D.2 D.3	0,000.0 509.9	8,325.5 776.1
Deferred tax liabilities	B.4	312.0	58.7
Total non-current liabilities		9,889.0	9,380.4
Total liabilities		10,696.3	10,765.2
Net assets		1,261.8	951.1
EQUITY			
Contributed equity	D.6	1,625.1	1,436.4
Reserves		(293.2)	(638.6)
Retained profits/(losses)		(70.1)	153.3
Total equity		1,261.8	951.1

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 March 2021

	For the	year ended 31
	Balanc Total c Profit fo	ch 2021 e as at 1 Apri omprehensive or the year omprehensive
	Total c	omprehensiv
	directly Dividen Equity i	ctions with or / in equity ds njection based paymen
20	Total tr	ansactions w
00	Balanc	e as at 31 Ma
	Balanc Total c the yea Profit fo Other c Total c the yea Transa	or the year omprehensive omprehensive r ctions with o
\bigcirc	Dividen Equity i	/ in equity ds njection based paymen
	Total tr	ansactions w
05	Balanc	e as at 31 Ma
$\bigcirc \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ $	(i)	The share ba the long term 2021.
	(ii)	The hedge re hedging instru- income, exce initial measur
	The abo	ove consolidate

		Contributed equity	payment reserve (i)	reserve (ii) p	Retained profits/(loss)	Total equity
	Notes	\$M	\$M	\$M	\$M	\$M
31 March 2021						
Balance as at 1 April 2020		1,436.4	1.0	(639.6)	153.3	951.1
Total comprehensive income for the year						
Profit for the year		-	-	-	114.4	114.4
Other comprehensive income			-	346.4	21.0	367.4
Total comprehensive income for the year			-	346.4	135.4	481.8
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity						
Dividends	D.7	-	-	-	(358.8)	(358.8)
Equity injection	D.6	188.2	-	-	-	188.2
Share based payment reserve	D.6	0.5	(1.0)	-	-	(0.5)
Total transactions with owners		188.7	(1.0)	-	(358.8)	(171.1)
Balance as at 31 March 2021		1,625.1	-	(293.2)	(70.1)	1,261.8
31 March 2020						
Balance as at 1 April 2019		1,308.3	0.7	(315.1)	448.1	1,442.0
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year						
Profit for the year		-	-	-	87.6	87.6
Other comprehensive loss		-	-	(324.5)	(4.1)	(328.6)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year			-	(324.5)	83.5	(241.0)
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity						
Dividends	D.7	-	-	-	(378.3)	(378.3)
Equity injection	D.6	127.2	-	-	-	127.2
Share based payment reserve	D.6	0.9	0.3	-	-	1.2
Total transactions with owners		128.1	0.3	-	(378.3)	(249.9)
Balance as at 31 March 2020		1,436.4	1.0	(639.6)	153.3	951.1

Share based

Hedge

ased payment reserve represents the tax-effected fair value of the performance rights granted under n incentive plan. This takes into account estimated vesting and service conditions as at 31 March

reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow ruments. These gains or losses are transferred to the income statement when the hedged item affects ept for highly probable forecast purchases of an asset where the gains or losses are included in the rement of that asset.

ted statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consolidated statement of cash flows

For the year ended 31 March 2021

	Notes	2021	2020
	Notes	\$M	\$M
Cash flows from operating activities			
Profit for the year		114.4	87.6
Add back interest, tax, depreciation		574.6	625.2
Other non-cash items		(4.6)	(83.7)
Non-cash intercompany transactions		(93.2)	(123.5)
Working capital movement		(0.6)	74.4
Net interest paid	_	(228.5)	(337.3)
Net cash inflow from operating activities		362.1	242.7
Cash flows from investing activities			
Payments for property, plant and equipment (i)		(478.7)	(522.1)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment		0.5	13.9
Receipts from financial assets	C.3	0.3	0.1
Payments for financial assets(ii)	C.3	(420.1)	(249.7)
Net cash outflow from investing activities	_	(898.0)	(757.8)
Cash flows from financing activities			
Repayments of related party loans		(61.1)	(126.4)
Payments for lease liabilities	D.5	(5.0)	(5.4)
Proceeds from borrowings	D.2	2,131.9	1,282.1
Repayment of borrowings	D.2	(857.7)	(818.4)
Net cash inflow from financing activities	_	1,208.1	331.9
Net (decrease)/increase in cash held		672.2	(183.2)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year		154.1	337.3
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year		826.3	154.1

(i) Net finance costs include a credit of \$9.4 million (2020: \$9.2 million) for capitalised finance charges which is included in payments for property, plant and equipment.

(ii) \$420.1 million (2020: \$249.7 million) of short term deposits with a maturity date more than 3 months from 31 March.

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 31 March 2021

Contents

Section A	Overview	43
Section B	Operating our business	
Note B.1	Segment results	44
Note B.2	Revenue from contracts with customers	47
Note B.3	Working capital	48
Note B.4	Taxation	51
Section C	Investing in our business	
Note C.1	Property, plant and equipment	54
Note C.2	Intangible assets	57
Note C.3	Other financial assets	58
Note C.4	Impairment of non-current assets	59
Note C.5	Capital commitments	60
Section D	Financing our business	
Note D.1	Capital management	61
Note D.2	Borrowings	61
Note D.3	Financial risk management	63
Note D.4	Net finance costs	73
Note D.5	Lease liabilities	74
Note D.6	Equity	75
Note D.7	Dividends	75
Section E	Group structure	
Note E.1	Subsidiaries	76
Note E.2	Parent entity information	77
Note E.3	Related party transactions	77
Section F	Other disclosures	
Note F.1	Remuneration of auditors	79
Note F.2	Defined benefit obligations	79
Note F.3	Share-based payments	82
Note F.4	Contingent liabilities and contingent assets	83
Note F.5	Events occurring after the balance sheet date	84

Section A Overview

We have included information in this report that we deem to be material and relevant to the understanding of the financial statements. Disclosure may be considered material and relevant if the dollar amount is significant due to size or nature, or the information is important to understand:

- our current year results;
- the impact of significant changes in our business; or
- aspects of our operations that are important to future performance.

(a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated general purpose financial report, prepared by a for-profit entity and presented in Australian dollars, represents the consolidated financial statements of AusNet Services Holdings Pty Ltd (the Company) and its subsidiaries. The consolidated group is collectively referred to as the Group. The ultimate Australian parent of the Company is AusNet Services Ltd, which is part of a consolidated group trading as AusNet Services (referred to as the AusNet Services Group, we, us or our). The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 11 May 2021.

The financial report has been prepared:

- in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and interpretations adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the *Corporations Act 2001* (Cth), as well as International Financial Reporting Standards and interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board;
- on a going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of normal trading operations. The Group's current
 assets exceed current liabilities by \$963.1 million at 31 March 2021. The Group is, and is expected to continue
 trading profitably, generating positive operating cash flows and successfully refinancing maturing debt. In addition,
 at 31 March 2021, the Group has available a total of \$800.0 million of undrawn but committed bank debt facilities
 and \$1,496.1 million of cash and short term investments; and
- under the historical cost convention, except for certain financial assets and liabilities (including derivative financial instruments) measured at fair value; and
- with amounts rounded off to the nearest hundred thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated, in accordance with Instrument 2016/191 issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission.

The accounting policies applied by the Group in this consolidated financial report are the same as those applied by the Group in its consolidated financial report as at and for the year ended 31 March 2020, with the exception of the below:

IFRC agenda decision: Cloud computing arrangements

- In December 2020, the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) issued an agenda decision 'Configuration or customisation costs in a cloud computing arrangement'. The decision addresses whether configuration or customisation expenditure relating to cloud computing arrangements is able to be recognised as an intangible asset and if not, over what time period the costs are expensed.
- The Group's accounting policy has historically been to capitalise certain costs related to cloud computing arrangements as an intangible asset. Formal pronouncements following this agenda decision could result in the reclassification of certain intangible assets to either a prepaid asset or expense. The impact of this agenda decision has been incorporated into the financial report and did not have a material impact.

(b) Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed throughout the financial statements located within the following notes:

- B.2 Variable consideration and satisfaction of performance obligations
- B.3 Accrued revenue estimates
- B.3 Measurement of environmental provision
- B.4 Timing and availability of tax deductions
- C.1 Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
- C.3 Assessments of recoverable amount
- D.3 Fair value of derivative financial instruments
- D.5 Lease terms and Incremental Borrowing Rate
- F.2 Valuation of defined benefit assets and obligations

Section B Operating our business

This section highlights the performance of the Group for the year, including results by operating segment, details of income tax expense and related balances and earnings per share. In addition, this section provides information on the working capital used to generate the Group's operating activities and the liabilities incurred as a result.

Note B.1 Segment results

Segment information is based on the information that management uses to make decisions about operating matters and allows users to review operations through the eyes of management. We present our reportable segments and measure our segment results for each of our networks as well as our Growth & Future Networks (including Mondo) business.

(a) Description of reportable segments

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it earns revenues and incurs expenses for which discrete financial information is available and whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker.

Following an organisational restructure during the year our operating segments have been updated to reflect the way that we manage the business. The most notable change being that we have consolidated customer-initiated excluded transmission projects, distribution network innovation projects and the current Mondo business into the broadened 'Growth & Future Networks' segment. The comparative information has been restated to provide consistent segment information for both periods shown.

The Group is organised into the following segments:

(i) Electricity distribution

The electricity distribution network carries electricity from the high voltage transmission network to end users, including metering. We charge retailers and some large customers regulated rates for the use of the electricity distribution network. The performance obligation is the provision of the access to the network and as such use of system revenue is recognised over the contract period which is deemed to be the regulatory reset period. The transaction price is deemed to be the determined recoverable revenue over that period. Variable consideration relating to volumes is constrained to the period in which it occurs, and volume over or under recoveries under the revenue cap are not considered to comprise variable consideration in accordance with AASB 138 *Intangible Assets*.

Excluded ancillary and alternative control services including public lighting, cross boundary charges and new connection charges are rendered to customers for a fixed rate with revenue recognised at a point in time when the services are rendered. The electricity distribution segment does not purchase or sell electricity. Our electricity distribution network covers eastern Victoria including the eastern metropolitan region of Melbourne.

Customer contributions

Customer contributions include the receipt of cash from a customer for the construction of assets, or the contribution of completed assets to us.

Non-refundable contributions received from customers towards the cost of extending or modifying our networks are generally recognised as revenue and an asset respectively once control is gained of the contribution or asset and it is operating as intended. The performance obligation is at a point in time being the time at which the customer is connected to the network.

For some customer projects, the performance obligation will be linked to an ongoing service contract, and hence the performance obligation will be satisfied over time, being the contract term.

Customer contributions of cash are measured with reference to the cash contribution received and customer contributions of assets are measured at the fair value of the assets contributed at the date we gain control of the asset. Fair value is determined with reference to the depreciated replacement cost of the asset, unless another measure of fair value is considered more appropriate.

Note B.1 Segment results (continued)

(ii) Gas distribution

The gas distribution network carries natural gas to commercial and residential end users, including metering. We charge retailers and some large customers regulated rates for the use of the gas distribution network. The performance obligation is the provision of the access to the network and as such use of system revenue is recognised over the contract period which is deemed to be the regulatory reset period. The transaction price is deemed to be the determined recoverable revenue over that period. Variable consideration, being the volume fluctuations or true ups for unaccounted for gas are constrained to the period to which they apply. The gas distribution segment does not purchase or sell gas. Our gas distribution network covers central and western Victoria.

Customer contributions in the gas distribution segment are accounted for in the same way as the electricity distribution segment.

(iii) Growth & Future Networks (including Mondo)

The Growth & Future Networks segment provides contracted infrastructure asset and energy services, as well as a range of asset and utility services to support the management of electricity, gas, and water networks. Many of these services continue to be provided under the Mondo brand.

The contracted infrastructure business builds, owns and operates a portfolio of assets that fall outside the regulated asset base. Growth & Future Networks makes investments through directly negotiated agreements, and typically receives annuity payments over the contract period in exchange for infrastructure and operational services. Dedicated customer connections are treated as finance lease receivables, with proceeds received from these assets split between revenue, lease interest income and principal repayments. Note that lease interest income in this segment also includes interest income on the desalination licence receivable.

The Growth & Future Networks segment also provides various asset and utility services to customers. Revenues from these services are recognised at a point in time as the services are rendered.

This segment now includes network innovation functions that were previously included in the Electricity Distribution businesses, as well as Mondo. Comparatives have been restated for consistency.

Note B.1 Segment results (continued)

(b) Reportable segment financial information

2021	Electricity distribution \$M	Gas distribution \$M	Growth & Future Networks \$M	Consolidated \$M
Regulated revenue	849.5	214.6	-	1,064.1
Customer contributions	68.5	8.9	2.9	80.3
Service revenue	-	-	58.5	58.5
Other revenue	4.7	1.4	5.3	11.4
Total segment revenue	922.7	224.9	66.7	1,214.3
Impairment	(19.0)	-	(11.7)	(30.7)
Segment operating expense	(358.3)	(57.0)	(79.3)	(494.6)
Segment result - EBITDA (i)	545.4	167.9	(24.3)	689.0
Lease interest income	-	-	0.6	0.6
EBITDAaL (ii)	545.4	167.9	(23.7)	689.6
Depreciation and amortisation	(259.7)	(60.0)	(17.1)	(336.8)
Capital expenditure	405.8	100.2	19.4	525.4
2020 (restated)				
Regulated revenue	824.9	213.6	-	1,038.5
Customer contributions	91.2	8.5	-	99.7
Service revenue	-	-	60.4	60.4
Other revenue	18.6	1.7	20.3	40.6
Total segment revenue	934.7	223.8	80.7	1,239.2
Segment operating expense	(368.3)	(64.8)	(93.3)	(526.4)
Segment result - EBITDA (i)	566.4	159.0	(12.6)	712.8
Lease interest income	-	-	0.2	0.2
EBITDAaL (ii)	566.4	159.0	(12.4)	713.0
Depreciation and amortisation	(263.5)	(62.1)	(16.8)	(342.4)
Capital expenditure	497.1	104.9	25.3	627.3

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation.

EBITDA after lease interest income.

Note B.2 Revenue from customers with contracts

(a) Disaggregated revenue

In the following table, revenue is disaggregated by revenue type and timing of recognition. The table also includes a reconciliation of the disaggregated revenue with AusNet Services' reportable segments (Note B.1) by including income items not in the scope of AASB 15 *Revenue from Contracts with Customers*. Comparative figures have been restated in line with the changes in note B.1.

31 March 2021

	Electricity		Growth & Future	
	distribution	Gas distribution	Networks	Total
	\$M	\$M	\$M	\$M
Timing of recognition				
At a point in time	90.4	13.8	43.2	147.4
Over time	830.7	211.1	23.5	1,065.3
Revenue from contracts with customers	921.1	224.9	66.7	1,212.7
Other income not in scope of AASB 15				
Operating lease income	0.1	-	-	0.1
Income from government grants (i)	1.5	-	-	1.5
Total revenue	922.7	224.9	66.7	1,214.3
31 March 2020 (restated)				
Timing of recognition				
At a point in time	127.1	20.1	56.3	203.5
Over time	806.0	203.7	24.4	1,034.1
Revenue from contracts with customers	933.1	223.8	80.7	1,237.6
Other income not in scope of AASB 15				
Operating lease income	0.1	-		0.1
Income from government grants (i)	1.5	-		1.5
Total revenue	934.7	223.8	80.7	1,239.2

Government grant income comprises grants under the Powerline Replacement Fund program whereby grants are received to fund bushfire safety capital expenditure, with income recognised over the life of the constructed assets. Government grant income in the Growth & Future Networks segment comprises assets received in relation to the Ballarat Energy Storage System, with income recognised over the life of the asset.

Key estimates and judgements - Variable consideration and satisfaction of performance obligations

For performance obligations satisfied over time, we typically use the output method, with the passage of time used as the measure of satisfaction of performance obligations. This is because our performance obligations satisfied over time are based on a fixed fee for the use of or access to an asset. In these scenarios, volumes or other activity do not impact the amount or timing of revenue recognition. The period over which the performance obligations are satisfied can be the contract term (in the case of unregulated revenues) or the period to the next regulatory reset period (in the case of regulated revenues).

Note B.3 Working capital

Working capital are assets and liabilities that are utilised as part of the day-to-day operations of the Group and are not used for investing purposes.

Key estimates and judgements - Accrued revenue estimates

Revenue accrual estimates are made to account for the unbilled period between the end user's last billing date and the end of the accounting period. The accrual relies on detailed analysis of customers' historical consumption patterns, and takes into account base usage and sensitivity to prevailing weather conditions. The results of this analysis are applied for the number of days and weather conditions over the unbilled period.

The accrual for solar rebates paid to retailers is calculated by applying the average rebate per day (based on the amount billed) to the number of unbilled days at month end.

	Assets	E Liabiliti		ties
	2021	2020	2021	2020
	\$M	\$M	\$M	\$M
Accounts receivable/payable	31.7	35.7	(20.3)	(15.3)
Related party receivables/payables	72.3	3.8	(198.1)	(169.3)
Accrued revenue - other/accrued expenses	5.3	7.8	(94.5)	(117.0)
Accrued revenue - contract assets (i)	78.7	86.5	-	-
Deferred revenue - contract liabilities (ii)	-	-	(37.1)	(29.9)
Deferred revenue - government grants	-	-	(2.0)	(1.5)
Deferred revenue - other	-	-	-	(0.1)
Other receivables/payables	4.0	0.3	-	(5.2)
Interest receivables/payables	0.4	0.5	(43.1)	(38.1)
Total current receivables/payables and other liabilities	192.4	134.6	(395.1)	(376.4)
Current other assets	24.7	20.0	-	-
Non-current other assets (iii)	62.8	35.8	-	-
Non-current accounts receivable	0.3	0.5	-	-
Non-current related party receivables/payables	37.5	-	-	-
Current inventory	39.5	40.4	-	-
Current provisions	-	-	(67.6)	(41.8)
Non-current provisions	-	-	(43.3)	(58.7)
Non-current deferred revenue - contract liabilities (ii)	-	-	(32.0)	(40.4)
Non-current deferred revenue - government grants	-	-	(80.7)	(75.6)
Non-current deferred revenue - other	-	-	-	-
□ Working capital	357.2	231.3	(618.7)	(592.9)

- (i) Contract assets primarily relate to unbilled regulated distribution revenue from AEMO market participants (retailers). Invoices are raised on 30-day billing cycles for distribution and on 60-day cycles for gas.
- (ii) Contract liabilities primarily relate to funds received in advance for customer contributions, telecommunications services and software maintenance fees. Revenue is recognised over the transaction period and contract term. Revenue recognised in FY2021 that was included in the contract liability balance at 1 April 2020 was \$24.4 million. Of the total contract liabilities of \$69.1 million we expect that approximately 53.7 per cent of these performance obligations will be satisfied in the next twelve months, with the remainder satisfied over the long term.
- (iii) Includes \$61.7 million (2020: \$34.1 million) defined benefit surplus, refer to Note F.2 for further details.

Note B.3 Working capital (continued)

(a) Accounts receivable

Current and non-current receivables are initially recognised at the fair value of the amounts to be received and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, less any allowance for expected credit losses.

Collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts that are known to be uncollectable are written off. An allowance for impairment is established when there is objective evidence that we will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables.

Accounts receivable are non-interest bearing and the average credit period is 15 business days (10 days for regulated retailers, 30 days for customer contracts). Comparative figures have been restated in line with the changes in note B.1.

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables grouped by different revenue segment:

			Gross	Allowance
	Gross Al	lowance	2020	2020
	2021	2021	\$M	\$M
	\$M	\$M	(restated)	(restated)
Electricity Distribution	7.4	(0.2)	11.8	-
Gas Distribution	16.0	-	12.8	(0.1)
Growth & Future Networks	12.2	(2.3)	14.6	(2.4)
Total	35.6	(2.5)	39.2	(2.5)

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year is as follows:

	2021	2020
	\$M	\$M
Opening loss allowance as at 1 April	(2.5)	(1.9)
Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year	(0.4)	(1.4)
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible	0.4	0.8
Closing loss allowance as at 31 March	(2.5)	(2.5)

Of those debts that are past due, the majority are receivable from high credit quality counterparties.

Receivables relating to regulated revenue streams (which account for approximately 88 per cent of revenues) are owed by retailers in the industry. There are strict regulatory requirements regarding who can obtain a retail licence and the Essential Service Commission has minimum prudential requirements which must be met before a participant can be registered as a distributor. The Australian Energy Market Operator (AEMO) also has high prudential requirements for retailers who participate in the market. Retailers must provide guarantees as requested by AEMO to minimise the risk of exposure by other participants to any defaults.

Growth & Future Networks receivables primarily relate to large telecommunications, electricity and gas retail businesses and other utilities such as water and transport companies. Allowances are required to cover potential contractual disputes over services provided as well as delinquent customers.

(b) Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to us prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid. Trade and other payables are stated at cost, are unsecured and are usually payable within 30 days of end of month.

Note B.3 Working capital (continued)

(c) Provisions

	2021	2020
	\$M	\$M
Current provisions		
Employee benefits (i)	54.7	36.2
Sundry provisions (ii)	2.1	3.8
Redundancy provision	3.3	1.8
Make good provision	5.3	-
Environmental provision	2.2	-
Total current provisions	67.6	41.8
Non-current provisions		
Employee benefits (i)	4.0	10.1
Make good provision	4.8	11.2
Environmental provision	34.5	37.4
Total non-current provisions	43.3	58.7
Total provisions	110.9	100.5

(i) Employee benefits provisions represent provisions for annual and long service leave for our employees as well as provisions for employee bonuses and other accrued entitlements. Liabilities for annual leave and long service leave are measured at the present value of expected future payments for services provided by employees up to the reporting date, including on costs. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee, departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using interest rates on corporate bonds with a term to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

(ii) Sundry provisions mostly include uninsured losses and provisions for cross boundary charges.

Key estimates and judgements - Measurement of environmental provision

The environmental provision represents an estimate of the costs of rehabilitating sites, including the estimated costs to remediate soil and water contamination on gas sites which were previously used as coal gas production facilities. The provision is based on preliminary cost estimates and timing of remediation, taking into account current legal and regulatory requirements, the estimated extent of the contamination, the nature of the site and surrounding areas, and the technologies and methods available. Management are exploring a number of strategies for future land use options for the three sites, with this process expected to take 12 to 18 months. The extent of remediation activities and associated costs may differ significantly depending on which option is chosen. The provision is a probability-weighted calculation of these options and as a result there is a risk that in the event of full remediation of all three sites, the cost may significantly exceed the provision at 31 March 2021.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

31 March 2021

Note B.4 Taxation

Key estimates and judgements - Timing and availability of tax deductions

The tax expense and deferred tax balances assume certain tax outcomes and values of assets in relation to the application of tax legislation as it applies to AusNet Services Ltd. Judgement is required in determining the timing of deductibility of expenditure, which impacts the amount of income tax payable and whether deferred tax balances are to be recognised in the statement of financial position. Changes in tax legislation or the interpretation of tax laws by tax authorities may affect the amount of provision for income taxes and deferred tax balances recognised.

At present there are several tax positions of AusNet that are being reviewed by the ATO, including but not limited to:

- An objection lodged by AusNet seeking a refund of tax paid in relation to certain gifted assets received, which has been recognised by the AusNet Services Group as a \$37.5 million non-current tax receivable: and
- An objection lodged by AusNet in relation to certain tax consolidation and capital allowance positions arising from the corporate restructure completed in June 2015.

All of the matters being considered by the ATO are at various stages and include items that could have both a positive or negative impact on the currently recognised tax positions. In relation to the tax consolidation element of the 2015 corporate restructure objection, the potential uplift in tax basis has not been recognised in the financial statements of AusNet.

In relation to the tax consolidation element of the 2015 corporate restructure objection, the potential uplift in tax base has not been recognised in the financial statements of AusNet.

In relation to the capital allowances element of the 2015 corporate restructure objection as well as all other matters currently being reviewed by the ATO, a net tax risk provision of \$11.0 million, based on a probability-weighted range of possible outcomes, continues to be recognised as a deferred tax liability as at 31 March 2021.

(a) Effective tax rate reconciliation

	2021	2020
	\$M	\$M
Profit before income tax	154.8	125.2
Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30.0% (2020: 30.0%)	46.4	37.5
Tax effect of amounts which are not (taxable)/ deductible in calculating taxable income:		
Prior year under provisions	0.2	-
Impact of amended assessments (i)	(13.3)	-
Non-deductible goodwill impairment	7.1	-
Sundry items	-	0.1
Income tax expense	40.4	37.6
Consists of:		
Current tax	(18.3)	11.6
Prior year under/(over) provision – current tax	(36.4)	12.8
Deferred tax	58.5	26.0
Prior year (over)/under provision – deferred tax	36.6	(12.8)
Income tax expense	40.4	37.6

(i) During the year, amended assessments for FY2016 to FY2019 were lodged with the ATO, with a number of changes to the timing of deductions for property, plant and equipment. Part of these changes relate to the period prior to the 2015 tax consolidation event and as such, they increase the reset tax base amount under the consolidation event. A \$13.3 million credit to tax expense has been recognised as a result of this higher reset tax base amount and is based on the amended assessments.

Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or income in the income statement, except when it relates to items credited or debited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised directly in equity, or where it arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, in which case it is taken into account in the determination of goodwill. Both our current income tax and deferred tax are calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at reporting date.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 31 March 2021

Note B.4 Taxation (continued)

(b) Current tax

Current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of income taxes payable or recoverable in respect of the taxable profit or loss for the period. It is calculated using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Current tax for current and prior periods is recognised as a liability (or asset) to the extent that it is unpaid (or refundable).

(c) Deferred tax

	1 April 2020	Impact of amended assessments	Prior year (under)/overs	(Charged)/ credited to income statement	Charged/ (credited) directly in equity	31 March 2021
2021	\$M	\$M	\$M	\$M	\$M	\$M
Employee benefits	13.6	-	· -	4.1	-	17.7
Other accruals and provisions	59.6	-	0.5	0.3	(0.7)	59.7
Derivative financial instruments and fair value adjustments on borrowings	271.6			(4.0)	(148.5)	119.1
Defined benefit funds	(10.4)	-		0.7	(9.0)	(18.7)
Intangibles	(26.7)	-		-	-	(26.7)
Property, plant and equipment	(366.4)	10.7	(37.1)	(70.3)	-	(463.1)
Net deferred tax liabilities	(58.7)	10.7	(36.6)	(69.2)	(158.2)	(312.0)

	1 April 2019	Prior year (under)/overs	(Charged)/ credited to income statement	Charged/ (credited) directly in equity	31 March 2020
2020	\$M	\$M	\$M	\$M	\$M
Employee benefits	18.8	-	(5.2)	-	13.6
Other accruals and provisions	55.2	(0.2)	4.3	0.3	59.6
Derivative financial instruments and fair value adjustments on borrowings	113.3	1.7	17.6	139.0	271.6
Defined benefit funds	(7.1)	-	(5.1)	1.8	(10.4)
Intangibles	(26.7)	-	-	-	(26.7)
Property, plant and equipment	(340.1)	11.3	(37.6)	-	(366.4)
Net deferred tax liabilities	(186.6)	12.8	(26.0)	141.1	(58.7)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable amounts will be available against which deductible temporary differences or unused tax losses and tax offsets can be utilised. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences giving rise to them arise from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities (other than as a result of a business combination), which affects neither taxable income nor accounting profit. Furthermore, a deferred tax liability is not recognised in relation to taxable temporary differences arising from goodwill.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period(s) when the asset and liability giving rise to them is realised or settled, based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which we expect at the reporting date to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and we intend to settle our tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Note B.4 Taxation (continued)

(i) Tax consolidation

AusNet Services Ltd is the head entity in a tax consolidated group comprising itself and its wholly owned subsidiaries.

The current and deferred tax amounts for the tax consolidated group are allocated among entities in the group using the stand-alone taxpayer method.

Members of the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax funding arrangement which sets out the funding obligations of members of the tax consolidated group in respect of tax amounts. The tax funding arrangement requires payments to/(from) the head entity equal to the current tax liability/(asset) calculated under the stand-alone taxpayer method and any deferred tax asset relating to tax losses assumed by the head entity. Members of the tax consolidated group have also entered into a valid tax sharing agreement under the tax consolidation legislation which set out the allocation of income tax liabilities between the entities should the head entity default on its tax payment obligations and the treatment of entities leaving the tax consolidated group.

The head entity recognises deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses of its tax consolidated group to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits of the tax consolidated group will be available against which the assets can be utilised. Any subsequent period adjustments to deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses assumed from subsidiaries are recognised by the head entity only.

Any current tax liabilities (or assets) and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses assumed by each head entity from the subsidiaries in the tax consolidated group are recognised in conjunction with any tax funding arrangement amounts.

Section C Investing in our business

This section highlights the investments made by us into our non-current asset base, including the core network assets, and provides a summary of our impairment assessment.

Note C.1 Property, plant and equipment

Key estimates and judgements - Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management judgement is applied to estimate service lives and residual values of our assets and these are reviewed annually. If service lives or residual values need to be modified, the depreciation expense changes as from the date of reassessment until the end of the revised useful life (for both the current and future years). This assessment includes consideration of the regulatory environment and technological developments, including but not limited to asset condition and obsolescence, location of supply and demand and estimated transformation in the energy market, including the changing source of generation (refer to note C.4). Any reassessment for useful lives in a particular year will affect the depreciation expense.

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation. The cost of contributed assets is their fair value at the date we gain control of the asset.

Historical cost includes all expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset, including an appropriate allocation of overheads and capitalised borrowing costs. Cost may also include transfers from the hedge reserve of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to us and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Items of plant and equipment under construction are recognised as capital work in progress. Once the asset construction is complete and the asset is capable of operating in the manner intended by management, the item of plant and equipment is transferred from capital work in progress to the relevant asset class and depreciation of the asset commences.

Maintenance and repair costs and minor renewals are charged as expenses as incurred, except where they relate to the replacement of an asset, in which case the costs are capitalised and depreciated, and the replaced item is derecognised.

Depreciation is recognised on property, plant and equipment, including freehold buildings but excluding land and easements. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis so as to write off the net cost of each asset over its estimated useful life to its estimated residual value. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed annually, and where changes are made, their effects are accounted for on a prospective basis.

Included within this note are leases where the Group is a lessee, which are disclosed as right-of-use assets. The Group leases various offices, land and buildings that have lease terms that are typically for fixed periods, but certain lease arrangements have extension options. In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an extension option. Extension options are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended. The right-of-use assets (measured at cost comprising the amount if the initial measurement of the lease liability and any other initial direct costs) are depreciated over the shorter of the assets' useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 31 March 2021

Note C.1 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

	Freehold land	Buildings	Easements	Electricity distribution network	Gas distribution network	Other plant and equipment	Right-of- use		Total
	\$M	\$M	\$M	\$M	\$M	\$M	\$M	\$M	\$M
Useful life (years)	Indefinite	40-99	Indefinite	5-70	15-80	3-12	1-47	n/a	
2021									
Carrying amount as at 1 April 2020	24.5	89.0	4.6	4,405.5	1,641.5	63.3	48.4	368.5	6,645.3
Lease modifications	-	-	-	-	-	-	1.5	-	1.5
Lessor transfers	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	(1.6)	(1.6)
Additions	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	479.0	479.0
Transfers	0.5	32.0	(1.0)	421.3	85.9	27.2	-	(565.9)	-
Disposals	-	-	-	(7.7)	(2.1)	(0.4)	-	-	(10.2)
Depreciation expense	-	(2.7)	-	(201.7)	(50.7)	(28.0)	(7.6)	-	(290.7)
Carrying amount as at 31 March 2021	25.0	118.3	3.6	4,617.4	1,674.6	62.1	42.3	280.0	6,823.3
Cost	25.0	133.2	3.6	7,119.6	2,392.3	565.9	55.7	280.0	10,575.3
Accumulated depreciation	-	(14.9)	-	(2,502.2)	(717.7)	(503.8)	(13.4)	-	(3,752.0)
Carrying amount as at 31 March 2021	25.0	118.3	3.6	4,617.4	1,674.6	62.1	42.3	280.0	6,823.3

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 31 March 2021

Note C.1 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

	Freehold land	Buildings	Easements	Electricity distribution network	Gas distribution network	Other plant and equipment	Right-of-use asset	•	Total
	\$M	\$M	\$M	\$M	\$M	\$M	\$M	\$M	\$M
Useful life (years)	Indefinite	40-99	Indefinite	5-70	15-80	3-12	1-47	n/a	
2020									
Carrying amount as at 1 April 2019	24.5	74.7	4.6	4,249.1	1,605.1	94.4	-	278.6	6,331.0
AASB 16 initial recognition	-	-	-	-	-	-	55.8	-	55.8
AASB 16 lease cost	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.7	-	0.7
AASB 16 lessor transfers	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	(6.6)	(6.6)
Additions	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	596.7	596.7
Transfers	-	16.2	-	366.4	96.4	21.2	-	(500.2)	-
Disposals	-	-	-	(9.5)	(5.3)	(12.8)	-	-	(27.6)
Depreciation expense	-	(1.9)	-	(200.5)	(54.7)	(39.5)	(8.1)	-	(304.7)
Carrying amount as at 31 March 2020	24.5	89.0	4.6	4,405.5	1,641.5	63.3	48.4	368.5	6,645.3
Cost	24.5	101.9	4.6	6,735.3	2,314.2	549.0	56.2	368.5	10,154.2
Accumulated depreciation	-	(12.9)	-	(2,329.8)	(672.7)	(485.7)	(7.8)	-	(3,508.9)
Carrying amount as at 31 March 2020	24.5	89.0	4.6	4,405.5	1,641.5	63.3	48.4	368.5	6,645.3

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

31 March 2021

Note C.2 Intangible assets

	Distribution licences (i)	. ,	Software (iii)	Other intangible assets	Total
<	\$M	\$M	\$M	\$M	\$M
Useful life (years)	Indefinite	Indefinite	3-10	3-10	
2021					
Carrying amount as at 1 April 2020	354.5	35.8	112.4	-	502.7
Additions	-	-	46.6	-	46.6
Impairment loss	-	(23.8)	(6.9)	-	(30.7)
Amortisation expense		-	(46.1)	-	(46.1)
Carrying amount as at 31 March 2021	354.5	12.0	106.0	-	472.5
Cost	354.5	12.0	557.7	-	924.2
Accumulated amortisation	-	-	(451.7)	-	(451.7)
Carrying amount as at 31 March 2021	354.5	12.0	106.0	-	472.5
2020					
Carrying amount as at 1 April 2019	354.5	35.9	119.2	0.2	509.8
Additions	-	-	30.6	-	30.6
Amortisation expense	-	-	(37.5)	(0.2)	(37.7)
Carrying amount as at 31 March 2020	354.5	35.9	112.3	-	502.7
Cost	354.5	35.9	518.0	4.1	912.5
Accumulated amortisation	-	-	(405.7)	(4.1)	(409.8)
Carrying amount as at 31 March 2020	354.5	35.9	112.3	-	502.7

The distribution licences held entitle us to distribute electricity and gas within our licensed region. Distribution (i) licences are stated at cost and are considered to be indefinite life intangible assets, which are not amortised. The distribution licences are tested for impairment annually and are carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

The distribution licences are considered to have an indefinite life for the following reasons:

- the licences have been issued in perpetuity provided we comply with certain licence requirements;
- we monitor our performance against those licence requirements and ensure that they are met; and
- we intend to, and are able to continue to, maintain the networks for the foreseeable future. •
- (ii) Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset at the date that control is acquired (the acquisition date). Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.

If, after reassessment, our interest in the fair value of the acquiree's identifiable net assets exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of our previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in the income statement as a gain.

Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. During the year \$23.8 million of goodwill and \$6.9 million of software was impaired in relation to the Geospatial business. Refer to note C.4.

(iii) Computer software, developed internally or acquired externally, is initially measured at cost and includes development expenditure. Subsequently, these assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Software assets are amortised on a straight-line over their estimated useful lives.

Note C.3 Other financial assets

		Note	Lessor receivables	Short term investments	Total
\geq			\$M	\$M	\$M
	Carrying amount at 1 April 2020		6.5	249.7	256.2
	Transfers from capital work in progress	C.1	1.6	-	1.6
	Principal repayments		(0.3)	-	(0.3)
	Short term investments		-	420.1	420.1
2	Carrying amount at 31 March 2021		7.8	669.8	677.6
))	Comprising of:				
	Current assets		-	669.8	669.8
	Non-current assets		7.8	-	7.8
)	Total other financial assets at 31 March 2021		7.8	669.8	677.6
2	Carrying amount at 1 April 2019		-	-	-
Ð	Transfers from capital work in progress	C.1	6.6	-	6.6
7	Principal repayments		(0.1)	-	(0.1)
シ	Short term investments		-	249.7	249.7
	Carrying amount at 31 March 2020		6.5	249.7	256.2
	Comprising of:				
-1	Current assets		0.2	249.7	249.9
	Non-current assets	_	6.3	-	6.3
2	Total other financial assets at 31 March 2020		6.5	249.7	256.2

Lessor receivables

The Group has determined that its dedicated unregulated customer connection assets meet the new definition of a finance lease, resulting in de-recognition of property, plant and equipment and the recognition of a financial asset. The financial asset is initially measured at the present value of remaining revenue receipts, discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease. In order to calculate the interest rate implicit in the lease, the Group has determined that the construction costs of the asset are equivalent to its fair value.

Short term investments

Short term investments are term deposits greater than 90 days that mature within the next financial year. These short term deposits do not meet the definition of cash and cash equivalents as they cannot be utilised immediately without penalty.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

31 March 2021

Note C.4 Impairment of non-current assets

At each reporting date we review the carrying amounts of our tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. An impairment loss occurs when an asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, we estimate the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit (CGU) to which the asset belongs. A CGU is the smallest group of assets that generate largely independent cash inflows.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, including goodwill, are tested for impairment annually regardless of whether there is an indication that the asset or related CGU may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing fair value less costs to sell, the estimated future post-tax cash flows are discounted to their present value using a post-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. The impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU and then to the other assets of the CGU pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the CGU. An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement immediately.

Key estimates and judgements - Assessment of recoverable amount

Key estimates and judgements have also been applied in the discount rate and terminal value multiples used in the measurement of recoverable amount, the details of which are provided as follows. These assumptions have been determined with reference to historical information, current performance and expected changes and take into account external information such as input costs, supply and demand. Such estimates may change as new information becomes available.

Management have considered the impact of climate change and the transition to renewable energy sources on impairment modelling assumptions and related risks. One of the underlying assumptions is that an appropriate regulatory response and framework will continue to exist throughout the forecast period so as to mitigate any potential risk of asset impairment or other financial outcomes that would otherwise act to materially reduce the net present value of future cash flows attached to our regulated businesses due to the impact of climate change. Management will continue to closely monitor this as Government policy continues to evolve and the transition to renewables gathers pace.

Note C.4 Impairment of non-current assets (continued)

The following CGUs have intangible assets with an indefinite life:

	Cash f		Post- discount		Carrying	g value
D	2021	2020	2021	2020	2021	2020
Regulated CGUs	years	years	%	%	\$M	\$M
Electricity distribution (distribution licence)	10	10	4.0	4.2	117.2	117.2
Electricity distribution (goodwill) (iii)	10	10	4.0	4.2	-	19.0
Gas distribution (distribution licence)	10	10	4.0	4.2	237.3	237.3
Unregulated CGUs						
Growth & Future Networks – field services (goodwill) (iii)	5	5	11.0	10.2	12.0	16.8

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

- (i) Regulated cash flow forecasts are based on allowable returns on electricity and gas distribution assets as set out in the Victorian Electricity Supply Industry Tariff Order and the Victorian Gas Industries Tariff Order respectively, together with other information included in our five-year forecast. Cash flows after that period are based on an extrapolation of the forecast, taking into account inflation and expected customer connection growth rates.
- (ii) The discount rate represents the post-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections. The discount rate reflects the market determined risk adjusted discount rate that is adjusted for specific risks relating to the CGU.
- (iii) During the year the Group decided to discontinue investment in the Geospatial business and consider disposal options. As a result of this decision the CGUs of the Group were reassessed and the new CGU was created for Geospatial. \$23.8m of goodwill was allocated to this new CGU (\$19.0m from Electricity Distribution CGU and \$4.8m from Growth & Future Networks Field Services CGU). Impairment testing carried out in this CGU resulted in the \$23.8m of goodwill being impaired in FY2021.

Appropriate terminal values were calculated using a range of both RAB multiples and market earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation multiples. Fair value less costs to sell is measured using inputs that are not based on significant observable market data. Therefore, they are considered to be level three within the fair value hierarchy as per AASB 13 *Fair Value Measurement*. Value in use for Growth & Future Networks CGUs is determined using forecasted cash flows over the five-year forecast period.

Note C.5 Capital Commitments

(a) Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised as a liability is as follows:

	2021	2020
))	\$M	\$M
Property, plant and equipment 1	35.4	176.0

Section D Financing our business

This section provides information relating to our capital structure and our exposure to financial risk, how they affect the Group's financial position and performance, and how those risks are managed.

Note D.1 Capital management

We manage our capital structure in order to maximise the long-term returns to shareholders. We achieve this by being disciplined in the pursuit of the following objectives:

- Targeting credit metrics over the medium term that maintain an 'A' range credit rating, thereby providing financial flexibility and a low cost of capital.
- Managing financial risk prudently to ensure net exposures are maintained within target settings.
- Funding capital expenditure efficiently through various sources to support organic growth and other investment opportunities, while covering 100 per cent of maintenance capital expenditure and a portion of growth capital expenditure from internal cash flows.

We review our capital structure and dividend policy regularly and do so in the context of our ability to continue as a going concern over the long term, to invest in opportunities that grow the business and to enhance shareholder value.

An important credit metric which assists management to monitor our capital structure is the net debt to Regulated and Contracted Asset Base (R&CAB) ratio, determined as indebtedness as a percentage of the R&CAB. Indebtedness is debt at face value (net of cash) excluding any derivative financial instruments. The R&CAB consists of the following items:

- Regulated Asset Base (RAB), which is subject to some estimation as the AER ultimately determines the RAB of each network; and
- The value of contracted network assets whose revenues and returns are set through a negotiated process. This includes the value of network assets that will form part of the RAB at the next regulatory period.

The movement of this metric over time demonstrates how the business is funding its capital expenditure in terms of debt versus income generating assets.

The net debt to R&CAB ratio as at reporting date was as follows:

	•	0	2021	2020
			%	%
Net debt to R&CAB			66.6	67.4

This ratio does not include equity credits in relation to \$2,437.2 million of hybrid securities.

Note D.2 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, except as detailed below. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and redemption amount is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest rate method.

Borrowings which are part of a fair value hedge relationship are recognised at amortised cost, adjusted for the gain or loss attributable to the hedged risk is recorded in the income statement together with any changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless we have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date or have the sole discretion to refinance or roll over the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date under an existing loan facility.

Note D.2 Borrowings (continued)

		Carry	ing Value	g Value Fac	
		2021	2020	2021	2020
	Maturity date	\$M	\$M	\$M	\$M
Current borrowings					
Bank debt facilities		-	48.0	-	48.0
Domestic medium term notes	April 2021	250.0	-	250.0	-
Hong Kong dollar (HKD) senior notes	December 2021	68.4	-	51.4	-
Euro (EUR) senior notes		-	907.2	-	709.7
Total current borrowings	-	318.4	955.2	301.4	757.7
Non-current borrowings					
Hong Kong dollar (HKD) senior notes	2026-2034	783.4	1,119.6	700.0	751.4
Domestic medium term notes	2022-2043	2,402.6	2,351.0	2,385.0	2,235.0
Bank debt facilities		-	98.1	-	100.0
Euro (EUR) senior notes	2024-2030	2,528.7	3,058.8	2,426.2	2,426.2
Japanese yen (JPY) senior notes	2024	60.9	78.6	62.6	62.6
US dollar (USD) senior notes	2026	113.8	145.6	107.0	107.0
Norwegian kroner (NOK) senior notes	2027-2029	570.5	620.4	565.8	565.8
US dollar (USD) hybrid securities (ii)	2076	495.8	619.5	505.7	505.7
Singapore dollar (SGD) hybrid securities (ii)	2076	197.2	233.9	199.6	199.6
Australian dollar (AUD) hybrid securities (ii)	2080	645.7	-	650.0	-
Euro (EUR) hybrid securities (ii)	2081	1,070.2	-	1,081.9	-
Total non-current borrowings	_	8,868.8	8,325.5	8,683.8	6,953.3
Total borrowings	_	9,187.2	9,280.7	8,985.2	7,711.0
less:					
Cash and cash equivalents		826.3	154.1	826.3	154.1
Short term investments	_	669.8	249.7	669.8	249.7
Net debt		7,691.1	8,876.9	7,489.1	7,307.2

(i) Face value represents the principal amount that has to be repaid on maturity, excluding any adjustments for loan fees, discounts and interest cash flows. Foreign currency debt is translated at hedged FX rates, with 100 per cent of the debt hedged for foreign currency risk at draw down.

(ii) The first call date for hybrid securities is September 2021 for SGD and USD hybrids, October 2025 for AUD hybrids and September 2026 for EUR hybrids.

(a) Foreign currency translation

All foreign currency transactions including foreign currency borrowings are accounted for using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. At balance date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies, including foreign currency borrowings, are translated at the exchange rate existing at that date. Resultant exchange differences are recognised in the income statement for the year, except for exchange differences for qualifying cash flow hedges which are recognised in other comprehensive income.

The foreign currency risk associated with our foreign currency borrowings is hedged through the use of cross currency swaps. Refer to Note D.3.

Note D.2 Borrowings (continued)

(b) Fair values of financial instruments

We have a number of financial assets and liabilities which are not measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position. With the exception of borrowings outlined above, the carrying amounts of these items are considered to be a reasonable approximation of their fair value as at 31 March 2021. The fair value of total borrowings as at 31 March 2021 was \$10,043.7 million (2020: \$10,002.4 million).

(c) Financial covenants

The terms of certain financing arrangements contain financial covenants that require maintenance of specified interest coverage ratios and gearing ratios. However, these covenants only apply if there are downward changes in credit ratings. In addition, there are change of control and/or ownership and cross default provisions. We monitor and report compliance with our financial covenants on a monthly basis. There have been no breaches during the year.

(d) Other bank guarantees

Certain entities within the Group are required to provide bank guarantees in the form of tender bid bonds or performance bonds for contractual obligations. The subsidiaries have guarantee facilities with a number of institutions amounting to \$15.0 million, of which \$5.8 million was provided to third parties at 31 March 2021 (2020: \$6.5 million).

(e) Changes in liability arising from financing activities

The table below details the movements in the Group's interest-bearing liabilities for the year ended 31 March 2021:

			v movements g activities)	Non-cash flow movements				
	1 April 2020	Proceeds Repayments		Reclassifica- tion	Funding costs	31 March 2021		
	\$M	\$M	\$M	\$M	\$M	\$M	\$M	\$M
Current	955.2	-	(757.7)	349.1	(206.5)	(22.0)	0.3	318.4
Non- current	8,325.5	2,131.9	(100.0)	(349.1)	(787.0)	(344.0)	(8.5)	8,868.8
Total	9,280.7	2,131.9	(857.7)	-	(993.5)	(366.0)	(8.2)	9,187.2

Note D.3 Financial risk management

Our activities expose us to a number of financial risks, including:

- Interest rate risk the risk that we suffer financial loss due to an adverse movement in interest rates on our borrowings or the impact changes in interest rates have on our regulated revenues.
- Currency risk the risk that we suffer financial loss due to adverse exchange rate movements on our foreign currency denominated borrowings.
- Liquidity risk the risk that an unforeseen event occurs which will result in us not being able to meet our payment obligations in an orderly manner.
- Credit risk the risk that one or more of our counterparties will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to us and arises from our financial assets, comprising cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and derivative financial instruments.

We manage our exposure to these risks in accordance with our Treasury Risk Policy which is approved by the Board. The policy is reviewed by the Audit and Risk Committee periodically. Any material changes are submitted to the Board for approval.

The objective of the Treasury Risk Policy is to document our approach to treasury risk management and to provide a framework for ongoing evaluation and review of risk management techniques. The policy provides an analysis of each type of risk to which we are exposed and the objective of and techniques for managing the risk, including identifying and reporting risks to management and the Board.

Note D.3 Financial risk management (continued)

Our treasury team evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-operation with the Group's operating units. The Treasury Risk Policy provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as mitigating risks, the use of derivative financial instruments and investing excess liquidity.

The Treasury Risk Policy operates in conjunction with several other AusNet Services policies, including:

- The Authority Manual which sets out the approvals required for such things as investment of surplus funds, execution of hedging transactions, borrowings and issue of guarantees and indemnities;
- The Treasury Operations Manual which sets out the day-to-day Treasury front office processes such as cash management and the operations of the Treasury back office, such as settlement processes and bank account operations;
- The Refinancing and Hedging Strategy which set out the refinancing and hedging strategies over the relevant financial period; and
- The Credit Metrics Guidelines which sets out target ranges for the key credit metrics that determine the Group's credit strength, such as the percentage of debt to the value of the R&CAB at balance date.

Together these policies provide a financial risk management framework which supports our objectives of finding the right balance between risk and reward to enhance profitability and business performance while minimising current and future exposures.

The material financial risks associated with our activities are each described below, together with details of our policies for managing the risk.

(a) Interest rate risk

We are exposed to the risk of movements in interest rates on our borrowings. In addition, our regulated revenues for the distribution businesses are directly impacted by changes in interest rates. This is a result of the 'building block' approach where interest rates are a major input in the determination of the regulatory weighted average cost of capital and consequently regulated revenues. The AER uses a Trailing Average Portfolio approach to setting the weighted average cost of capital. This approach assumes that 10 per cent of the debt for each network is refinanced each year. As such, the average cost of capital is reset each year to take into account this assumed refinancing.

The objective of hedging activities carried out by us in relation to interest rate risk is to minimise the exposure to changes in interest rates by aligning the actual cost of debt with the cost of debt assumed by the regulator. The exposure is managed by maintaining the percentage of fixed rate debt to total debt at a level between 90 per cent and 100 per cent for the relevant business. We therefore consider net interest rate exposure, after hedging activities, to be minimal for the Group. The percentage of fixed rate debt to total debt (on a net debt basis) as at 31 March 2021 was 92.6 per cent (2020: 94.6 per cent).

We utilise interest rate swaps to manage our exposure to cash flow interest rate risk and achieve the targeted proportion of fixed rates on our debt portfolio. Under interest rate swaps, we agree to exchange the difference between fixed and floating rate interest amounts calculated on agreed notional principal amounts. Such contracts enable us to mitigate the risk of changing interest rates on debt held.

As at reporting date, we had the following financial assets and liabilities exposed to interest rate risk. The values disclosed below are the principal amounts, which differ from the carrying values and as such do not agree to the statement of financial position.

	2021	2020
	\$M	\$M
Financial assets		
Related party receivables (i)	2,459.6	2,494.7
Fixed rate instruments	1,419.5	399.7
Floating rate instruments	64.5	-
Financial liabilities (ii)		
Fixed rate instruments	(6,900.5)	(6,915.0)
Floating rate instruments	(2,084.8)	(796.1)

Note D.3 Financial risk management (continued)

(a) Interest rate risk (continued)

- As the common funding vehicle, the Company lends funds to other entities within the AusNet Services Group, including the Transmission business. Related party interest is charged based on the weighted average interest rate of Company's borrowings for the relevant regulated business. The interest rate is reset quarterly.
- (ii) The financial liabilities above include the impact of derivative financial instruments used to manage the interest rate and foreign currency exposures on those liabilities. Therefore, they represent the post hedge position. It should be noted that some fixed rate borrowings (post hedge) as at reporting date are only fixed for a portion of their term. This is because the maturity profile of borrowings differs from the AER's assumed refinancing profile of the regulated businesses. The remaining portion of this debt will be fixed when the AER resets the cost of debt to cover these periods.

Our exposure to changes in interest rates is limited to exposures denominated in Australian dollars due to our policy of mitigating interest rate risk exposure on foreign currency debt. As a result, the sensitivity analysis below has only been performed based on movements in Australian interest rates. As at reporting date, if Australian interest rates had increased and decreased by 83 basis points as at 31 March 2021 (2020: 67 basis points), with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit and equity would have increased/(decreased) as follows:

	Net pr	ofit after tax	Equity after tax (hedge reserve)	
	2021	2020	2021	2020
	\$M	\$M	\$M	\$M
Increase in Australian interest rates with all other variables held constant	3.6	0.3	414.3	102.2
Decrease in Australian interest rates with all other variables held constant	(4.3)	(2.0)	(450.5)	(383.4)

The judgements of reasonably possible movements were determined using statistical analysis of the 95th percentile best and worst expected outcomes having regard to actual historical interest rate data over the previous five years based on the three-month bank bill swap rate. We consider that past movements are a transparent basis for determining reasonably possible movements in interest rates.

Due to our interest rate risk management policies, the exposure to interest rate movements at any point in time is minimal. Therefore, the impact of a reasonably possible movement in interest rates on net profit after tax is minimal. The impact on equity due to any valuation change of derivative financial instruments in cash flow hedges will unwind to zero at maturity of the derivative.

(b) Currency risk

We are exposed to currency risk due to funding activities in offshore debt markets as a means of providing cost effective and efficient funding alternatives, as well as a result of undertaking certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies. Exchange rate exposures are managed within approved policy parameters. The objective of our currency risk management program is to eliminate all foreign exchange risk on funding activities and material foreign exchange related transaction risk by utilising various hedging techniques as approved by the Board. Therefore, we consider our currency risk exposure to be minimal and no sensitivity analysis is required.

Note D.3 Financial risk management (continued)

(c) Derivative financial instruments used to hedge interest rate and currency risks

(i) Accounting for financial instruments

The Group designates derivative financial instruments as either fair value hedges or cash flow hedges:

		Fair value hedges	Cash flow hedges
Objec hedge	tive of the	To mitigate the exposure to changes in fair value of certain borrowings. Fair value hedges are generally fixed rate designated for the terms of borrowings that fall outside of the price review periods for the regulated businesses.	To mitigate the variability in cash flows attributable to variable interest rate and/or foreign currency movements on borrowings or highly probable forecast transactions.
chang	ment of ges in fair of qualifying es	Recognised immediately in the income statement, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk.	The effective portion is recognised directly in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement. Amounts accumulated in the hedge reserve are recycled in the income statement when the hedged item affects the income statement (generally when the forecast transaction that is hedged takes place). However, when the forecast transaction results in the recognition of a non-financial asset, the gains and losses are transferred from the hedge reserve and included in the measurement of the initial carrying amount of the asset.
Docur the he relatio	0	inception of the transaction, the relationsh as well as our risk management object transactions. We also document our asset basis, of whether the derivative financial	s qualify for hedge accounting we document, at the nip between hedging instruments and hedged items, trives and strategy for undertaking various hedge essment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing instruments that are used in hedging transactions effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash
	ntinuation of accounting	Hedge accounting is discontinued whe terminated, or when a hedge no longer m	en the hedging instrument expires or is sold or eets the criteria for hedge accounting.
		After discontinuation, the previously hedged asset or liability is no longer revalued for changes in fair value.	At that time, any cumulative gain or loss existing in the hedge reserve remains in hedge reserve and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the income statement.
			When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in the hedge reserve is immediately recognised in the income statement.

Note D.3 Financial risk management (continued)

(c) Derivative financial instruments used to hedge interest rate and currency risks (continued)

(ii) Measurement and classification

We classify our derivative financial instruments between current and non-current based on the maturity date of the instrument. As a result, derivative financial instruments are classified as non-current, except for those instruments that mature in less than 12 months, which are classified as current.

At reporting date, our derivative financial instrument positions are as detailed below:

	Interest rate swaps	Forward foreign currency contracts	Cross- currency swaps	Total net derivative financial instruments
	\$M	\$M	\$M	\$M
2021				
Current assets	0.1	0.5	17.1	17.7
Non-current assets	130.1	-	193.8	323.9
Current liabilities	(7.0)	(0.6)	(13.6)	(21.2)
Non-current liabilities	(418.6)	(0.4)	(90.9)	(509.9)
Total derivative financial instruments	(295.4)	(0.5)	106.4	(189.5)
Consists of:				
- fair value hedges	29.1	-	(74.6)	(45.5)
- cash flow hedges	(324.5)	(0.5)	182.0	(143.0)
- not in a hedge relationship	-	-	(1.0)	(1.0)
Total derivative financial instruments	(295.4)	(0.5)	106.4	(189.5)
2020				
Current assets	-	0.5	194.2	194.7
Non-current assets	121.9	0.5	1,114.9	1,237.3
Current liabilities	(5.5)	(0.5)	-	(6.0)
Non-current liabilities	(775.7)	(0.4)	-	(776.1)
Total derivative financial instruments	(659.3)	0.1	1,309.1	649.9
Consists of:				
- fair value hedges	122.4	-	494.5	616.9
- cash flow hedges	(781.7)	0.1	815.8	34.2
- not in a hedge relationship		-	(1.2)	(1.2)
Total derivative financial instruments	(659.3)	0.1	1,309.1	649.9

Note D.3 Financial risk management (continued)

(c) Derivative financial instruments used to hedge interest rate and currency risks (continued)

(ii) Measurement and classification (continued)

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in the income statement immediately unless the derivative financial instrument is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which case the timing of the recognition in the income statement depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

Credit risk is included in the fair value of derivative financial instruments based on a bilateral credit risk adjustment obtained using credit default swap curves. Credit risk is obtained directly from the observable Credit Default Swap curves within Bloomberg for each of the relevant counterparties, with the Bilateral Credit Risk applied uniformly across all asset and liability positions as at the reporting date. The difference between the fair value of derivatives and their transaction price at inception due to credit valuation adjustments is recognised progressively over the period to maturity. The unamortised value of the deferred credit risk adjustment for derivative financial instruments as at 31 March 2021 is \$30.9 million (2020: \$22.4 million).

Key estimates and judgements - Fair value of derivative financial instruments

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure purposes.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair value and are measured using market observable data, and where appropriate, are adjusted for credit risk, liquidity risk and currency basis risk. Therefore, they are deemed level two within the fair value hierarchy as per AASB 13 *Fair Value Measurement*.

The fair value of derivative financial instruments is determined using valuation techniques and available market observable data as well as market corroboration based on active quotes. These include industry standard interest rates, foreign exchange and currency basis yield curves sourced directly from Bloomberg. Appropriate transaction costs and risk premiums are included in the determination of net fair value.

(iii) Offsetting derivative financial instruments

Derivative assets and liabilities are presented on a gross basis. Certain derivative assets and liabilities are subject to enforceable master netting arrangements with individual counterparties if they were subject to default. Notwithstanding that these financial assets and liabilities do not meet the criteria for being presented on a net basis, if these netting arrangements were applied to the derivative portfolio as at 31 March 2021, derivative assets and liabilities would be reduced by \$262.6 million respectively (2020: \$756.4 million). Refer to the below table:

	Gross amounts in the financial statements	Amounts subject to master netting arrangements	Net amount
	\$M	\$M	\$M
2021			
Derivative financial assets	341.6	(262.6)	79.0
Derivative financial liabilities	(531.1)	262.6	(268.5)
	(189.5)	-	(189.5)
2020			
Derivative financial assets	1,432.0	(756.4)	675.6
Derivative financial liabilities	(782.1)	756.4	(25.7)
	649.9	-	649.9

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

31 March 2021

Note D.3 Financial risk management (continued)

(c) Derivative financial instruments used to hedge interest rate and currency risks (continued)

(iv) Cash flow hedges

^DThe following table summarises movements in the hedged items and hedging instruments that were designated in cash flow hedges during the year:

	0	Change in value of hedging instrument used to measure ineffectiveness (i)	Nominal amounts of hedging instruments (i)
	\$M	\$M	\$M
Interest rate risk	(324.2)	342.5	14,369.3
Foreign currency risk – debt	537.3	(523.4)	8,058.5
Foreign currency risk – capital expenditure	0.7	(0.7)	26.6

Nominal amounts represent the total principal in each hedging instrument (derivative) in cash flow hedges. For hedging purposes derivatives are split into multiple hedging components becoming hedging instruments in each hedge relationship. The nominal amounts in the table above are based on these multiple hedging components. The nominal value for all external derivatives in both cash flow and fair value hedges is \$14,995.3 million.

The following movements have occurred in the cash flow hedge reserve during the year, net of income tax:

	2021	2020
	\$M	\$M
Opening balance of cash flow hedge reserve	(639.6)	(315.1)
Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income, net of income tax:		
Changes in fair value of cash flow hedges (excluding foreign currency basis spreads)	369.6	(602.4)
Amounts reclassified to interest expense for effective hedges	192.1	121.1
Changes in foreign currency basis spreads	(66.9)	17.8
Tax effect	(148.4)	139.0
Total amounts recognised in other comprehensive income, net of income tax	346.4	(324.5)
Closing balance of cash flow hedge reserve	(293.2)	(639.6)

The following table summarises the net cashflows receivable/(payable) under our cash flow hedges:

	2021 \$M	2020 \$M
Borrowings:		
Less than 1 year	(155.4)	68.3
1 – 2 years	(129.9)	(119.9)
2 – 5 years	(188.6)	(183.3)
Greater than 5 years	35.6	79.7
	(438.3)	(155.2)

These amounts will impact the income statement in the same period as cash flows are expected to occur, with the exception of hedges of highly probable forecast transactions which will impact the income statement as the underlying asset is utilised.

Note D.3 Financial risk management (continued)

(c) Derivative financial instruments used to hedge interest rate and currency risks (continued)

(v) Fair value hedges

The following table summarises the hedged items included in fair value hedges and their impact on the financial statements:

	Carrying amount of the hedged item \$M	Accumulated amount of fair value adjustments on hedged items \$M	Gain/(loss) on remeasurement of hedged item \$M	Gain/(loss) on remeasurement of hedging instruments \$M	Nominal amounts of hedging instruments (i) \$M
AUD denominated borrowings Foreign currency	(3,296.5)	(30.0)	84.5	(81.2)	1,273.0
denominated borrowings	(5,888.9)	(208.5)	566.2	(576.7)	10,879.8

 Nominal amounts represent the total principal in each hedging instrument (derivative) in fair value hedges. For hedging purposes derivatives are split into multiple hedging components becoming hedging instruments in each hedge relationship. The nominal amounts in the table above are based on these multiple hedging components. The nominal value for all external derivatives in both cash flow and fair value hedges is \$14,995.3 million.

(d) Liquidity risk

We manage liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves, committed banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities and by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. These practices are governed by our liquidity management policies, which include Board approved guidelines covering the maximum volume of long term debt maturing in any one year, the minimum number of years over which debt maturities are to be spread and the timing of refinancing. In addition, short term bank debt and commercial papers must not represent more than an agreed percentage of the total debt portfolio.

The liquidity management policies ensure that we have a well-diversified portfolio of debt, in terms of maturity and source, which significantly reduces reliance on any one source of debt in any particular year. In addition, our investment grade credit rating ensures ready access to both domestic and offshore capital markets.

Our policy is that financing facilities are to be put in place at least six months before maturity of the debt being replaced or in the case of new debt at least six months before funding is required. "In place" is defined as meaning all documentation has been completed and settlement has occurred or if settlement has not occurred (e.g. committed but undrawn bank debt facilities) funding is committed and is not subject to a material adverse change in the market.

(i) Contractual cash flows

Liquidity risk is managed based on net contracted and forecast inflows and outflows from operating, financing and investing activities. The following table summarises the contractual cash flows of our non-derivative and derivative financial assets and liabilities based on the remaining earliest contractual maturities. The contractual cash flows are based on undiscounted principal and interest commitments, and foreign exchange rates at the reporting date.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

31 March 2021

Note D.3 Financial risk management (continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (continued)

(i) Contractual cash flows (continued)

D		Principal at face	e Carrying		l Less	1 – 2	2 – 5	Greater than 5
2021	Notes	value \$M				years \$M	years \$M	years
-	Notes	ΦIVI	ΦIV	ι φινι	φivi	ΦIVI	ΦIVI	\$M
Financial assets		000.0	000.0	000.0	000.0			
Cash and cash equivalents		826.3	826.3	826.3	826.3	-	-	-
Accounts and other receivables	B.3, E.3	2,633.3	2,633.3	2,633.3	173.7	-	-	2,459.6
Other financial assets	C.3	677.6	677.6	681.4	670.7	0.9	2.6	7.2
Derivative financial assets			341.6	216.9	47.5	9.5	(32.2)	192.1
			4,478.8	4,357.9	1,718.2	10.4	(29.6)	2,658.9
Financial liabilities								
Trade and other payables	B.3	374.4	374.4	374.4	374.4	-	-	-
Lease liability	D.5	47.3	47.3	47.7	6.6	6.6	16.3	18.2
Domestic medium term notes		2,635.0	2,652.6	3,446.1	356.1	422.1	350.5	2,317.4
Foreign senior notes		3,913.0	4,125.8	4,483.3	152.4	82.4	1,121.9	3,126.6
Hybrid securities (i)		2,437.3	2,408.7	2,633.0	738.1	37.9	758.8	1,098.2
Derivative financial liabilities			535.9	852.0	153.1	110.3	264.6	324.0
			10,144.7	11,836.5	1,780.7	659.3	2,512.1	6,884.4
Net cash outflow				(7,478.6)	(62.5)	(648.9)	(2,541.7)	(4,225.5)
2020								
Financial assets								
Cash and cash equivalents		154.1	154.1	154.1	154.1	-	-	-
Accounts and other								
receivables	B.3, E.3	2,629.3	2,629.3	2,629.3	134.6	-	-	2,494.7
Other financial assets	C.3	256.2	256.2	259.7	250.4	1.3	1.4	6.6
Derivative financial assets		-	1,432.0	1,194.6	267.0	231.4	165.3	530.9
		—	4,471.6	4,237.7	806.1	232.7	166.7	3,032.2
Financial liabilities								
Trade and other payables	B.3	344.9	344.9	344.9	344.9	-	-	-
Lease liability	D.5	50.8	50.8	66.2	8.8	16.6	11.6	29.2
Bank debt facilities		148.0	146.1	155.3	155.3	-	-	-
Domestic medium term		0.005.0	0.054.0	0 000 0	404.0	0.45.0	000 F	4 004 0
notes		2,235.0	2,351.0	2,980.6	104.6	345.3	669.5 072.6	1,861.2
Foreign senior notes		4,622.7	5,930.2	6,239.2	1,016.7	182.7	973.6	4,066.2
Hybrid securities (i) Derivative financial liabilities		705.4 -	853.4	912.9 820 5	47.8 126.0	865.1	- 267 2	-
		-	782.1	839.5	126.9	123.4	267.2	322.0
		_	10,458.5	11,538.6	1,805.0	1,533.1	1,921.9	6,278.6
Net cash outflow				(7,300.9)	(998.9)	(1,300.4)	(1,755.2)	(3,246.4)

(i) The table above assumes that the Group will exercise at the first call dates in September 2021, October 2025 and September 2026. Full contractual cash flows continue until 2076, 2080 and 2081.
Note D.3 Financial risk management (continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (continued)

(ii) Financing facilities

We target a minimum net liquidity, defined as available short-term funds and committed financing facilities. As at reporting date, we had the following committed financing facilities available:

		2021			2020	
Financing facilities (face value)	Amount used	Amount unused	Total	Amount used	Amount unused	Total
Unsecured bank overdraft facility, reviewed annually and payable at call	-	2.5	2.5	-	2.5	2.5
Unsecured working capital facility, reviewed annually	-	100.0	100.0	48.0	52.0	100.0
Unsecured bank loan facility with various maturity dates and which may be extended by mutual agreement	-	700.0	700.0	100.0	600.0	700.0
Total financing facilities	-	802.5	802.5	148.0	654.5	802.5

(e) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to us and arises from our financial assets, comprising cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and derivative financial instruments.

We have adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults (refer to Note B.4). Our exposure and the credit ratings of our counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate values of transactions concluded are spread amongst approved counterparties. Therefore, we consider the credit risk exposure to be minimal.

In accordance with the Treasury Risk Policy, treasury counterparties each have an approved limit based on the lower of Standard & Poor's or Moody's credit rating. Counterparty limits are reviewed and approved by the Audit and Risk Committee and any changes to counterparties or their credit limits must be approved by the Chief Financial Officer and the Managing Director and must be within the parameters set by the Board as outlined in the Treasury Risk Policy. The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit rating assigned by international credit rating agencies. At balance date we had \$1,419.5 million on term deposit and \$309.0 million of cross currency and interest rate swaps with 'A' rated or higher Australian and international banks.

Credit risk is included in the fair value of derivative financial instruments based on a bilateral credit risk adjustment obtained using credit default swap curves. The difference between the fair value of derivatives and their transaction price at inception due to credit valuation adjustments is recognised progressively over the period to maturity. Except as detailed in the following table, the carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for losses, represents our maximum exposure to credit risk. The values disclosed below represent the market values in the event of early settlement (in the money market values), which differ from the carrying values and as such do not align with the statement of financial position. The values below exclude any offsetting financial liabilities with the particular counterparty.

	2021 \$M	2020 \$M
Financial assets and other credit exposures Cross currency swaps AUD interest rate swaps	213.3 146.3	1,328.1 137.7

Note D.4 Net finance costs

	2021	2020
	\$M	\$M
Finance income (i)		
Interest income	5.5	2.4
Interest income – related parties	111.2	107.5
Lease interest income	0.6	0.2
Total finance income	117.3	110.1
Finance costs (ii)		
Interest expense	335.9	328.6
Interest expense – leases	2.2	3.2
Interest expense – related parties	3.1	-
Other finance charges – cash	4.8	3.3
Other finance charges – non cash	6.0	4.8
Loss on fair value hedges	7.2	12.3
Loss on transactions not in a hedge relationship	(0.2)	-
Loss/(gain) on ineffective portion of cash flow hedges	(32.1)	9.9
Unwind of discount on provisions	(1.7)	3.3
Defined benefit net interest income	(1.2)	(0.9)
Capitalised finance charges (iii)	(9.3)	(9.2)
Total finance costs	314.7	355.3
Net finance costs	197.4	245.2

(i) Interest income is recognised as it accrues, taking into account the effective yield on the financial asset.

(ii) All borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement using the effective interest rate method, other than borrowing costs directly attributable to a qualifying asset which are capitalised into the cost of that asset.

(iii) The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs to be included in the cost of qualifying assets is the average interest rate of 4.4 per cent (2020: 4.2 per cent) applicable to our outstanding borrowings at the end of the period.

Note D.5 Lease liabilities

	2021 \$M	2020 \$M
Opening carrying value at 1 April	50.8	-
Additions recognised on adoption of AASB 16	-	55.8
Lease modifications	1.5	0.4
Principal repayments	(5.0)	(5.4)
Closing carrying value at 31 March	47.3	50.8
Comprising of:		
Current liability	5.0	5.4
Non-current liability	42.3	45.4
Total lease liabilities	47.3	50.8

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted using the Group's incremental borrowing rate. The lease liability is subsequently increased by the interest cost on the lease liability and decreased by the lease payments made. It is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or a rate (including reassessment of extension options).

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group uses recent third-party financing received by the lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received with overlay adjustments specific to the lease term.

Payments associated with short-term leases and low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense within "Other expenses" in the consolidated income statement. Short-term leases are leases with a contractual term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise IT equipment and small items of office furniture. Furthermore, certain tax and insurance reimbursements to landlords do not convey a good or service to the Group and therefore are not included in the lease liability (non-lease payments). For the year ended 31 March 2021, \$2.5 million of short-term or low value lease and non-lease payments have been recognised directly within the consolidated income statement (2020; \$1.9 million).

Key estimates and judgements - Lease terms and incremental borrowing rate

The Group has applied judgement to determine the lease term for some lease contracts in which it is a lessee that include renewal options. The assessment of whether the Group is reasonably certain to exercise such options, as well as economic considerations including the value of leasehold improvements, impacts the lease term, which significantly affects the amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets recognised.

The Group has estimated its incremental borrowing rate with reference to recently issued debt, quoted rates, and pricing information from debt investors for leases with terms longer than our average debt tenor.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

31 March 2021

Note D.6 Equity

		2021	2020
Share capital	Notes	\$M	\$M
Ordinary shares – fully paid	(a), (b)	1,625.1	1,436.4

(a) Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares authorised and issued have no par value. Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of AusNet Services Holdings Pty Ltd in proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares issued. Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to one vote on a show of hands or one vote for each ordinary share held on a poll at shareholders' meetings.

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from proceeds.

(b) Movements in ordinary share capital

Date	Details	Number of shares	\$M
1 April 2020	Opening balance	1,433,162,958	1,436.4
30 September 2020	Equity injection (i)	54,467,362	54.5
31 March 2021	Equity injection (i)	133,658,086	133.7
31 March 2021	Contribution from AusNet Services Ltd (ii)	-	0.5
31 March 2021	Closing balance	1,621,288,406	1,625.1
1 April 2019	Opening balance	1,305,946,133	1,308.3
31 March 2020	Equity injection (i)	127,216,825	127.2
31 March 2020	Contribution from AusNet Services Ltd (ii)	-	0.9
31 March 2020	Closing balance	1,433,162,958	1,436.4

(i) Equity injection to apply excess funds from AusNet Services Ltd Dividend Reinvestment Plan.

(ii) This represents the accounting for the AusNet Services Group's share-based payment arrangements where the Group grants awards to its employees that will be settled in the shares of the parent.

Note D.7 Dividends

FY2021 Dividend Funding for AusNet Services Ltd interim FY2021 dividend Funding for AusNet Services Ltd final FY2021 dividend	Date declared 30 September 2020 31 March 2021	Cents per share 12.0 11.1	Total dividend \$M 178.3 180.6
Total dividend		23.1	358.9
FY2020 Dividend	Date declared	Cents per share	Total dividend \$M
Funding for AusNet Services Ltd interim FY2020 dividend	30 September 2019	14.40	188.2
Funding for AusNet Services Ltd final FY2020 dividend	31 March 2020	13.26	190.1
Total dividend		27.66	378.3

Section E Group Structure

The following section provides information on our structure and how this impacts the results of the Group as a whole, including details of controlled entities and related party transactions.

Note E.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. In assessing control, potential voting rights that are presently exercisable or convertible are taken into account.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities within the Group are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred.

The Group's financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries:

)				Equity	/ holding
1	Name of entity	Country of incorporation	Class of shares	2021	2020
/	AusNet Services Holdings Pty Ltd	Australia	Ordinary	%	%
	AusNet Electricity Services Pty Ltd	Australia	Ordinary	100.0	100.0
	AusNet Asset Services Pty Ltd	Australia	Ordinary	100.0	100.0
	AusNet Gas Services Pty Ltd	Australia	Ordinary	100.0	100.0
)	Mondo Power Pty Ltd	Australia	Ordinary	100.0	100.0

. . . .

Note E.2 Parent entity information

(a) Statement of financial position

	2021	2020
	\$M	\$M
Current assets	1,240.4	430.4
Non-current assets	10,013.2	10,654.2
Total assets	11,253.6	11,084.6
Current liabilities	574.2	1,196.1
Non-current liabilities	9,257.7	8,840.4
Total liabilities	9,831.9	10,036.5
Contributed equity	1,621.3	1,433.2
Reserves	(293.3)	(639.7)
Retained profits	93.7	254.6
Total equity	1,421.7	1,048.1
(b) Statement of comprehensive income		
	2021	2020
	\$M	\$M
Profit/(loss) for the year	241.5	(42.0)
Total comprehensive profit/(loss) for the year	587.9	(366.5)

(c) Contingent liabilities

The Directors are not aware of any contingent liabilities of the parent entity as at 31 March 2021 (2020: \$0).

Note E.3 Related party transactions

(a) Major shareholders

The immediate parent of the Company is AusNet Services (Distribution) Pty Ltd. The ultimate parent of the Company is AusNet Services Limited, a company incorporated in Australia, which is part of a listed group trading as AusNet Services.

AusNet Services Ltd has two shareholders with a significant investment and board representation, being Singapore Power International Pte Ltd (SPI) and State Grid Corporation of China (State Grid). SPI's ultimate parent is Temasek Holdings (Private) Ltd (Temasek). State Grid has a controlling stake in Jemena Asset Management Pty Ltd (referred to as Jemena). Under applicable accounting standards, Temasek and its subsidiaries (including SPI) and State Grid and its subsidiaries (including Jemena) are considered to be related parties of AusNet Services. These entities are not considered related parties under the *Corporations Act 2001*.

(b) Key management personnel

	2021	2020
	\$	\$
Short-term employee benefits	5,157,020	5,080,175
Post-employment benefits	134,348	177,220
Equity-based payments	620,607	330,532
Other long-term benefits	108,834	152,620
	6,020,809	5,740,547

The Remuneration Report within the Directors' report contains details of the remuneration paid or payable to each member of the Group's key management personnel for the year ended 31 March 2021.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 31 March 2021

Note E.3 Related party transactions (continued)

(c) Transactions with related parties

We engage in a wide variety of transactions with entities in the Temasek Group in the normal course of business on terms similar to those available to other customers. Such transactions include but are not limited to telecommunication services and leasing of properties. All related party transactions are carried out on terms negotiated between the parties which reflect an arm's length basis. As a result, transactions with Temasek interests other than the Singapore Power Group have been excluded from the disclosures below.

We also provide electricity distribution and electricity transmission services to Jemena. AusNet Services earns a regulated return from the provision of these services as these services are regulated by the AER.

Zinfra (a subsidiary of Jemena) is one of a number of installation service providers that performs construction services under competitive tender processes. AusNet Services outsource a large portion of construction expenditure and the procurement function manages competitive tender processes for all contracts.

The following transactions occurred with related parties within the Singapore Power and State Grid groups and other entities within the Ausnet Services Group for the financial year:

	2021 \$'000	2020 \$'000
Sales of goods and services		
Regulated revenue (i)	5,002	4,628
Services revenue	1,712	1,242
Purchases of goods and services		
Other expenses	13,363	1,146
Property, plant and equipment (construction services)	18,420	32,861
Dividends	358,828	378,300

(i) Represents revenues from the provision of electricity distribution services which are regulated by the AER.

The following balances are outstanding at reporting date in relation to transactions with related parties within the Singapore Power, State Grid and AusNet Services groups:

	2021	2020
	\$'000	\$'000
Current receivables (sale of goods and services)		
Other entities in the AusNet Services Group	53,078	3,279
Jemena (i)	459	543
Non-current receivables		
Other entities in the AusNet Services Group	2,528,555	2,494,677
Current payables and other liabilities (purchase of goods)		
Other entities in the AusNet Services Group	139,030	163,223
Jemena	2,947	6,132

(i) Includes outstanding amounts from the provision of electricity distribution services which are regulated by the AER.

No allowance for impairment loss has been raised in relation to any outstanding balances due from related parties.

Section F Other disclosures

This section includes other information to assist in understanding the financial performance and position of the Group, or items required to be disclosed in order to comply with accounting standards and other pronouncements.

Note F.1 Remuneration of auditors

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by KPMG and its related practices:

	2021	2020
	\$'000	\$'000
Audit and review services		
Audit and review of financial statements	974	968
Audit of regulatory returns (i)	597	602
Total remuneration for audit and review services	1,571	1,570
Other services		
Taxation services	10	11
Other services	158	269
Total remuneration for other services	168	280
Total remuneration of auditors	1,739	1,850

(i) It is our policy to employ KPMG to perform the audit of regulatory returns as these returns represent an extension of statutory audit services and we gain efficiencies when the services are performed by the same audit firm.

Note F.2 Defined benefit obligations

We make contributions to a defined benefit superannuation plan that is managed by Equipsuper. The fund provides defined benefit amounts to employees or their dependants upon retirement, death, disablement or withdrawal. Benefits are mostly in the form of a lump sum based on the employee's final average salary, although, in some cases, defined benefit members are also eligible for pension benefits.

The defined benefit sections of the Equipsuper plan is closed to new members. All new members receive defined contribution, accumulation style benefits.

The defined benefit superannuation plan is administered by a trust that is legally separated from the Group. The trustees consist of both employee and employer representatives and an independent chair, all of whom are governed by the scheme rules. The trustees are responsible for the administration of plan assets and for the definition of plan strategy.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 31 March 2021

Note F.2 Defined benefit obligations (continued)

	2021	2020
	\$M	\$M
Total amount included in the statement of financial position in respect of the defined benefit plan is as follows:		
Present value of defined benefit obligations	(134.5)	(173.7)
Fair value of plan assets	196.2	207.8
Net asset arising from defined benefit obligations	61.7	34.1

Amounts recognised in the income statement in respect of the defined benefit plan are as

Remeasurement (loss)/gains recognised during the year in other comprehensive income	30.0	(5.9)
Total	2.4	(9.7)
Net interest income on defined benefit obligation	(1.2)	(0.9)
Curtailment gain on transfer to third party (i)	-	(12.9)
Current service cost	3.6	4.1
Tollows.		

) Curtailment gain on transfer of 87 members to third party defined benefit funds as part of the electricity distribution and electricity transmission operations and maintenance transfer in September 2019 and March 2020 respectively.

Each year we engage an independent actuary to perform an actuarial review of the defined benefit fund. Our net obligation in respect of the defined benefit superannuation fund is calculated by estimating the amount of future benefits that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. That benefit is discounted to determine its present value and recognised after deducting the fair value of any plan assets.

The discount rate is the yield at the balance date on corporate bonds that have maturity dates approximating the terms of our obligations. A qualified actuary performs the calculation using the projected unit credit method. Remeasurements comprise actuarial gains and losses and the return on plan assets (excluding interest). They are recognised in full directly in retained profits in the period in which they occur and are presented in other comprehensive income.

When the calculation of the net obligation results in a benefit to the Group, the recognised asset is limited to the net total of any unrecognised actuarial losses and past service costs and the present value of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.

(a) Movement in defined benefit plan assets and obligations

	Asset 2021 \$M	Obligation 2021 \$M	Net 2021 \$M	Asset 2020 \$M	Obligation 2020 \$M	Net 2020 \$M
Movements in the fair value of plan assets/present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows:						
Opening fair value of plan assets/(defined benefit obligations)	207.8	(173.7)	34.1	309.2	(266.2)	43.0
Current service cost	-	(3.6)	(3.6)	-	(5.3)	(5.3)
Interest income/(cost)	6.0	(4.8)	1.2	9.6	(8.4)	1.2
Actuarial gain/(loss)	18.0	12.0	30.0	(7.9)	(9.8)	(17.7)
Transfer of assets/obligations to third parties	-	-	-	(68.5)	81.4	12.9
Contributions by plan participants	1.0	(1.0)	-	1.8	(1.8)	-
Benefits, taxes and premiums paid	(36.6)	36.6	-	(36.4)	36.4	-
Closing fair value of plan assets/(defined benefit obligations)	196.2	(134.5)	61.7	207.8	(173.7)	34.1

The actual return on plan assets was a gain of \$24.0 million (2020: gain of \$2.2 million).

Note F.2 Defined benefit obligations (continued)

From 1 July 2018, AusNet Services ceased to make contributions to the defined benefit plans. This contribution holiday is expected to continue during the next financial year under the Target Funding method used to determine the contribution rates. Under the Target Funding method, the employer contribution rate is set at a level which is expected to result in plans' assets equalling 104 per cent of plan liabilities within five years. The defined benefit superannuation plans expose us to additional actuarial, interest rate and market risk.

(b) Analysis of plan assets

Plan assets can be broken down into the following major categories of investments:

	2021	2020
	%	%
Investments quoted in active markets:		
Australian equities	14	11
International equities	16	17
Fixed interest securities	14	17
Unquoted investments:		
Property	6	7
Growth alternative	11	11
Defensive alternative	15	13
Cash	24	24
	100	100

Plan assets do not comprise any of the Group's own financial instruments or any assets used by Group companies.

Note F.2 Defined benefit obligations (continued)

(c) Actuarial assumptions

The following were the principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as weighted averages).

	Defined benefit expense			Defined benefit obligation		
л Л	2021	2020	2021	2020		
	%	%	%	%		
Key assumptions						
Discount rate	3.1	3.3	2.3	2.4		
Expected salary increase rate	3.0	3.0	2.0	3.0		

As at 31 March 2021, the weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation was 8 years (2020: 10 years).

Key estimates and judgements - Valuation of defined benefit assets and obligations

A number of estimates and assumptions are used in determining defined benefit assets, obligations and expenses. These estimates include salary increases, future earnings and rates of return. Any difference in estimates will be recognised in other comprehensive income and not through the income statement. The net liability from defined benefit obligations recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position will be affected by any significant movement in investment returns and/or interest rates.

(d) Sensitivity analysis

Changes in the relevant actuarial assumptions as at reporting date, with all other variables held constant, would result in an increase/(decrease) in the value of the defined benefit obligation as shown below:

	Increase	Decrease
	\$M	\$M
Defined benefit obligation		
Discount rate (0.5 per cent movement)	(6.4)	6.8
Expected salary increase rate (0.5 per cent movement)	2.9	(2.8)

When calculating the above sensitivity analysis, the same method has been applied as when calculating the defined benefit liability recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position.

(e) Defined contribution expense

During the year, we contributed \$16.5 million of defined contribution benefit to employees (2020: \$14.1 million).

Note F.3 Share-based payments

We provide benefits to some of our employees (including key management personnel) in the form of share-based payments, whereby part of an employees' remuneration is or may be provided in exchange for shares or rights over shares (equity settled transactions) in order to align to shareholder outcomes. The granting of such shares or rights may be subject to satisfaction of certain conditions.

The cost of equity settled transactions is recognised over the period in which the conditions are fulfilled (the vesting period), ending on the date that relevant employees become entitled to the award (the vesting date). At each subsequent reporting date until vesting, the cumulative charge to the income statement is in accordance with the vesting conditions.

(a) Long term incentive plan

We have a Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) for executives and other senior management identified by the AusNet Services Board. The plan is based on the grant of performance rights (PRs) that vest into shares at no cost to the employee subject to performance hurdles (refer to the Remuneration Report for further detail). Settlement of the performance rights is made in ordinary shares.

Note F.3 Share-based payments (continued)

(a) Long term incentive plan (continued)

AusNet Services Ltd's performance rights are granted to employees of subsidiary companies within the Group. The fair value of each performance right is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes model. This model used the following inputs for each tranche of rights:

	LTIP	MD LTIP	LTIP	LTIP
	2020	2019	2019	2018
Share price at grant date (\$)	1.80	1.87	1.81	1.61
Exercise price (\$)	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Expected volatility (%)	17.5	17.5	17.5	20
Risk-free interest rate (%)	0.26	1.10	1.10	2.19
Dividend yield (%)	5.11	5.59	5.59	5.50
Expected life of performance rights (months)	36	36	36	36

The expected volatility is based on the AusNet Services Group's historical volatility and is designed to be indicative of future trends, which may not reflect actual volatility.

An expense of \$1.4 million has been recognised for the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: \$0.6 million) in relation to equity-settled share-based payments.

Note F.4 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

(a) Rapid Earth Fault Current Limiter (REFCL) penalty regime

On 1 May 2016, the Electricity Safety (Bushfire Mitigation) Amendment Regulations 2016 (Amended Bushfire Mitigation Regulations) came into effect in Victoria. The amended regulations require Victorian distributors to install REFCLs at designated zone substations. The purpose of the REFCL devices is to reduce the risk of a bushfire caused by a fallen powerline.

The amended *Electricity Safety Act 1998 (Vic)* (ESA) enables Energy Safe Victoria (ESV) or the Minister to apply to the Supreme Court of Victoria, seeking the imposition of significant financial penalties if a distributor fails to achieve compliance over the relevant period. The legislation provides that the Court can impose a maximum penalty of \$2 million per point for each station for which a distributor has not achieved compliance. Accordingly, penalties of up to \$10 million per zone substation can apply if AusNet fails to achieve the required capacity during the relevant compliance period. Additionally, the Court can impose a maximum daily penalty of \$5,500 for each day AusNet remains non-compliant.

All tranche 1 sites are compliant, and extensions of time have been granted by ESV for certain tranche 2 sites. As a result, AusNet has achieved the total number of compliance points required up to 1 May 2021. Further compliance points must be met through November 2022 for tranche 2 and the risk of penalties under the regime remains possible until the program is completed.

(b) Other matters

AusNet Services is involved in various legal and administrative proceedings and various claims on foot, the ultimate resolution of which, in the opinion of AusNet Services, will not have a material effect on the consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In addition, there are several tax positions of AusNet that are currently being reviewed by the ATO. Further details are contained in Note B.4.

Other than as listed above, we are not aware of any contingent liabilities or assets as at 31 March 2021 (2020: \$0)

Note F.5 Events occurring after the balance sheet date

(a) EDPR 2021-26 final decision

The Australian Energy Regulator (AER) published its Final Decision on AusNet Services' 2021-26 Electricity Distribution Price Review on 30 April 2021. The final decision contained the following outcomes:

- Total revenue of \$3,470 million
- Total capital expenditure (real 2021\$) of \$1,384 million
- Total operating expenditure (real 2021\$) of \$1,239 million
- Total metering revenue of \$301 million

The Final Decision will be applicable to AusNet from 1 July 2021.

(b) Other matters

Other than outlined above, there has been no matter or circumstance that has arisen since 31 March 2021 up to the date of issue of this financial report that has significantly affected or may significantly affect:

- (a) the operations in financial years subsequent to 31 March 2021 of the Group;
- (b) the results of those operations; or
 - the state of affairs, in financial years subsequent to 31 March 2021, of the Group.

In the opinion of the Directors of AusNet Services Holdings Pty Ltd (the Company):

- (a) the financial statements and notes set out on pages 37 to 84, and the remuneration disclosures that are contained in the Remuneration report set out on pages 13 to 33 in the Directors' report, are in accordance with the *Corporations Act 2001*, including:
 - (i) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and
 - (ii) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity's financial position as at 31 March 2021 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date;
- (b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Section A; and
- (c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

The Directors have been given the declarations by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer required by section 295A of the *Corporations Act 2001*.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

her

Tony Narvaez Managing Director

Melbourne 11 May 2021



Independent Auditor's Report

To the shareholders of AusNet Services Holdings Pty Ltd

Report on the audit of the Financial Report

Opinion

We have audited the *Financial Report* of AusNet Services Holdings Pty Ltd (the Company).

In our opinion, the accompanying Financial Report of the Company is in accordance with the *Corporations Act 2001*, including:

- giving a true and fair view of the *Group's* financial position as at 31 March 2021 and of its financial performance for the year ended on that date; and
- complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

The Financial Report comprises:

- Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021
- Consolidated income statement, Consolidated statement of comprehensive income, Consolidated statement of changes in equity, and Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended
- Notes including a summary of significant accounting policies
- Directors' Declaration.

The *Group* consists of the Company and the entities it controlled at the year-end or from time to time during the financial year.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with *Australian Auditing Standards*. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report section of our report.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the *Corporations Act 2001* and the ethical requirements of the *Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards)* (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the Financial Report in Australia. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organisation. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.



Key Audit Matters

The *Key Audit Matters* we identified are:

- Taxation assessment of uncertain tax position
- Valuation of non-current assets including property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
- Valuation and accounting for derivatives

Key Audit Matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the Financial Report of the current period.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the Financial Report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Taxation – Assessment of uncertain tax position (\$11m) Refer to Note B.4 Taxation of the Financial Report. How the matter was addressed in our audit The key audit matter The assessment of uncertain tax positions Working with our taxation specialists, our is a key audit matter due to the complexity procedures included: of relevant tax legislation and the audit Examining relevant correspondence provided • effort required in the assessment of the to and received from the ATO including the Group's estimates and assumptions. Group's Notice of Objection and its impact on The Group continues to recognise a tax risk the uncertain tax position; provision in relation to the uncertainty over Attendance at the Audit and Risk Committee • income tax treatment as set out in Note B.4 meeting and assessment of the Group's key amounting to \$11m, based on a probabilityaccounting papers in order to understand the weighted range of possible outcomes. analysis and positions being prepared by the This provision is recognised in relation to Group; matters subject to an Australian Tax Office Considering any tax advice obtained by the (ATO) audit relating to the profile of capital • Group from external tax advisors. We allowances (tax depreciation and entitlements), which is also subject to a assessed the skills and competencies of the external advisors; Notice of Objection lodged by the Group with the ATO during the period. Challenging the assumptions applied, and • There is significant effort involved in the audit estimates made in relation to the provision in

There is significant effort involved in the audit of judgmental provisions in respect of uncertain tax positions. The estimates and assumptions applied by the Group may be subsequently challenged by the relevant tax authorities.

In assessing this key audit matter, we involved our taxation specialists, who have industryspecific experience and detailed knowledge of the complex Australian taxation requirements and the ATO's compliance program activities. • Evaluating the disclosure of uncertain tax positions and potential exposures in the financial report against accounting standards requirements.

and regulations; and

determining the range of possible outcomes.

We challenged these assumptions using our

experience and knowledge of ATO audits and

compliance programs, and applicable tax laws

Valuation of non-current assets including property, plant and equipment (\$6,823.3m) and intangible assets (\$472.5m)

Refer to Note C.1 Property, plant and equipment, C.2 Intangible assets, and C.4 Impairment of noncurrent assets of the Financial Report.

The valuation of non-current assets is a key audit matter due to the:Complex nature of the regulatory framework for determining revenue and	 Our procedures included: Assessing the integrity of the cash flow models used, including the accuracy of the underlying calculation formulas; Comparing regulated cash flow assumptions
 expenditure applicable to each of the Group's regulated CGU's; Complexity in assessing the forward-looking assumptions applied to the Group's discounted cash flow models for each CGU given the significant assumptions involved. The main assumptions include those relating to terminal values, expected capital and operating expenditure, expected returns from future regulatory determinations, inflation, growth rates and discount rates; Challenges associated with assessing the Group's long-term forecast cash flow model having regard to potential regulatory change, technology and market changes, and accounting standard requirements; Change in strategy for the Geospatial business, necessitating our consideration of the Group's CGU identification and allocation of goodwill and intangible assets to the CGUs to which they belong based on management's monitoring of the business. This further increased our audit effort in this key audit area and over the resulting impairment charge. We involved valuation specialists to supplement our senior audit team members in assessing this key audit matter. 	 Comparing regulated cash now assumptions to regulatory determinations relevant to the forecast cash flow period; Comparing unregulated cash flow assumptions to customer contracts and historical trends; Checking the relevant cash flow forecasts to the Board approved 5-year Financial Plan; Using our industry knowledge and information published by regulatory and other bodies to assess key assumptions and the impact of technology, market and regulatory changes on those assumptions; Involving our valuation specialists to: Independently develop a discount rate range considered comparable using publicly available market data for comparable entities, adjusted by risk factors specific to the Group and the industry it operates in; Compare carrying and recoverable values of CGUs to publicly available market data, such as implied earnings and asset multiples of comparable entities; Assessing the appropriateness of using a long-term cash flow forecast against accounting standard requirements for regulated assets by considering industry practice and the long-term nature of the Group 's regulated asset base; Assessing the accuracy of previous forecasts of the Group to inform the areas on which to focus in the current financial year;



•	carrying values of CGUs against the requirements of the accounting standards; Evaluating the Group's sensitivity analysis in respect of the key assumptions, including the identification of areas of estimation uncertainty;
	Assessing the Group's CGU determination based on our understanding of the Group's operations, including the impact of the change in investment strategy for the Geospatial business, against accounting standard requirements;
	Recalculating the Geospatial impairment charge against the recorded amount disclosed;
	Assessing impairment related disclosures in the financial report based on accounting standard requirements.

Valuation and accounting for derivatives (\$341.6m assets, \$531.1m liabilities)

Refer to Note D.3 Financial risk management of the Financial Report.

The key audit matter	How the matter was addressed in our audit
Valuation and accounting for derivatives is a key audit matter due to the:	With the assistance of our Financial Instrument and Treasury specialists, our procedures included:
 Size and complexity of the Group's derivative portfolio, in particular cross currency and interest rate swaps hedging foreign currency and Australian dollar denominated fixed and floating rate dobt; 	 Evaluating the appropriateness of valuation methodologies and accounting for hedging activities against accounting standard requirements;
 denominated fixed and floating rate debt; Capital management activities undertaken by the Group during the year through the issuance of bonds and hybrid securities, which impacted the Group's derivative portfolio and created new hedge relationships; 	 Assessing and challenging the Group's market inputs and assumptions underlying the valuation of derivatives. We compared market inputs and assumptions to independently sourced market and credit data sets including spot foreign exchange rates, currency interest rate curves, currency basis spreads and credit pricing curves;
 Inherent complexity and judgment in applying accounting principles in the valuation and disclosure of derivatives and related hedging activities. 	 Performing our own valuation of a sample of derivatives using independently sourced market and credit data and assumptions, and
In assessing this key audit matter, we involved our Financial Instrument and Treasury specialists, who have industry specific	industry accepted valuation techniques. We compared these valuations to the Group's recorded valuations;
experience and detailed knowledge of the	• Evaluating a selection of derivative fair values



complex accounting requirements.	using independent market observable inputs and industry accepted valuation techniques;
	• Evaluating the adequacy of hedge designation documentation for a selection of new hedges in relation to the Group's Treasury Risk Management policy and accounting requirements;
	• Obtaining independent confirmations from counterparties with which the Group has borrowings or derivative financial instruments and comparing the key terms of these to the Group's accounting records;
	• Evaluating the appropriateness of the classification and presentation of derivative financial instruments and related financial risk management disclosures against accounting standard requirements.

Other Information

Other Information is financial and non-financial information in AusNet Services Holdings Pty Ltd's annual reporting which is provided in addition to the Financial Report and the Auditor's Report. The Directors are responsible for the Other Information.

Our opinion on the Financial Report does not cover the Other Information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon, with the exception of the Remuneration Report and our related assurance opinion.

In connection with our audit of the Financial Report, our responsibility is to read the Other Information. In doing so, we consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the Financial Report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

We are required to report if we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other Information, and based on the work we have performed on the Other Information that we obtained prior to the date of this Auditor's Report we have nothing to report.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report

The Directors are responsible for:

- preparing the Financial Report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001
- implementing necessary internal control to enable the preparation of a Financial Report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error
- assessing the Group and Company's ability to continue as a going concern and whether the use
 of the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate. This includes disclosing, as applicable,
 matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they
 either intend to liquidate the Group and Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
 alternative but to do so.



Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report

Our objective is:

- to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and
- to issue an Auditor's Report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with *Australian Auditing Standards* will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the Financial Report.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report is located at the *Auditing and Assurance Standards Board* website at:

https://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar1.pdf. This description forms part of our Auditor's Report.

Report on the Remuneration Report

Opinion

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of AusNet Services Holdings Pty Ltd for the year ended 31 March 2021, complies with *Section 300A* of the *Corporations Act 2001*.

Directors' responsibilities

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with *Section 300A* of the *Corporations Act 2001*.

Our responsibilities

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 13 to 33 of the Directors' report for the year ended 31 March 2021.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with *Australian Auditing Standards*.

KIMG

KPMG

BW Szentirmay

Partner

Melbourne

11 May 2021